76 PP.



NONDESTRUCTIVE METHODS FOR TESTING CONCRETE

V. M. Malhotra

Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Ottawa

Mines Br. Monograph 875

© Crown Copyrights reserved

Available by mail from the Queen's Printer, Ottawa, and at the following Canadian Government bookshops:

HALIFAX 1735 Barrington Street

MONTREAL Æterna-Vie Building, 1182 St. Catherine Street West

OTTAWA Daly Building, Corner Mackenzie and Rideau

> TORONTO 221 Yonge Street

WINNIPEG Mall Center Building, 499 Portage Avenue

> VANCOUVER 657 Granville Street

or through your bookseller

Price \$2.50 Catalogue No. M32-875

Price subject to change without notice

ROGER DUHAMEL, F.R.S.C. Queen's Printer and Controller of Stationery Ottawa, Canada 1968

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
ABSTRACT	1
RÉSUMÉ	1
INTRODUCTION	3
SURFACE HARDNESS TESTS	4
Indentation Methods	4
Williams Testing Pistol	5
Frank Spring Hammer	5
Einbeck Pendulum Hammer	5
Rebound Method	6
Schmidt Test Hammer	6
Limitations of Schmidt Test Hammer	11
Rebound Number and Compressive Strength	16
Rebound Number and Flexural Strength	16
Rebound Number and Modulus of Elasticity	16
Limits and Usefulness of Surface Hardness Tests	17
DYNAMIC METHODS	18
Resonant Frequency Method	18
Salient Features of a Typical Testing Apparatus	19
Use and Operation of Sonometer	20
Calculation of Moduli of Elasticity and Rigidity, and Poisson's Ratio	22
Effect of Curing Conditions on Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity	23
Reproducibility of Test Results	23
Resonant Frequency and Durability of Concrete	24
Correlation Between Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity and Strength Properties of Concrete.	24
Comparison of Moduli of Elasticity Determined from Longitudinal	
and Transverse Frequencies	25
Comparison of Dynamic and Static Moduli of Elasticity	26
Damping Properties of Concrete	27
Limits and Usefulness of Resonant Frequency Test Methods	28
Mechanical Sonic Pulse Velocity Methods	29
Ultrasonic Pulse Velocity Method	31
Design Features of Soniscope and Ultrasonic Concrete Tester	32
Reproducibility of Test Results	34

PAGE

DYNAMIC METHODS—(Cont'd)

Application of Pulse Velocity Methods	34
Comparison of Pulse and Static Young's Moduli of Elasticity	41
Comparison of Pulse and Dynamic Moduli of Elasticity	41
Limits and Usefulness of Pulse Velocity Test Methods	42
RADIOACTIVE METHODS	43
Principles of Gamma Radiography	43
Applications of Gamma Radiography	43
A. Measurement of Density by the Absorption of Gamma Rays	43
B. Back-Scatter Method for Determining the Density of Surface Layers	
of Concrete	47
C. Gamma Radiography for Determining Position and Condition of	
Reinforcement	47
Limits and Usefulness of Radioactive Test Methods	48
CONCLUSIONS	48
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	49
REFERENCES	51

FIGURES

1.	Testing pistol	4
2.	Frank spring hammer	:
3.	Einbeck pendulum hammer	(
4.	Einbeck pendulum hammer in use	2
5.	Schmidt test hammer	7
б.	A cut-away view of the Schmidt test hammer	8
7.	Schmidt test hammer in use to test a 6 \times 12-inch concrete cylinder	9
8.	Concrete wing wall of a roadway bridge under test using Schmidt test hammer.	10
9.	Relationship between cube compressive strength and Schmidt rebound number determined by Swiss Federal Testing Laboratory for hard- aggregate concretes.	11
10.	Calibration curves obtained by different investigators with a Schmidt type No. 2 test hammer.	12
11.	Restraining load vs rebound readings for 6×12 -inch cylinders	13
12.	Eight-hour-old and three-day-old specimens showing surface blemishes after hammer impact.	14
13.	Effect of gravel from different sources on rebound readings of 6×12 -inch concrete cylinders	1:
14.	Typical histogram for rebound number 20	17
15.	Schematic diagram of a typical apparatus, showing driver and pick-up positions for the three types of vibration	19

PAGE

16a.	A $3\frac{1}{2} \times 4 \times 16$ -inch concrete beam being transversely vibrated by a Sonometer manufactured in the United States		
16h	A view of the Electrodynamic tester made in Great Britain		
17.	Effect of cycles of freezing and thawing on the dynamic Young's modulus of elasticity		
18.	Relationship between the dynamic modulus of elasticity and the com- pressive strength		
19.	Relationship between the dynamic modulus of elasticity and the flexural strength		
20.	Comparison of moduli of elasticity determined from longitudinal and transverse frequencies		
21.	Relationship between static modulus of elasticity and ratio of static to dynamic moduli.		
22.	Schematic diagram of velocity test apparatus—single blow hammer method.		
23.	Repetitive-blows pulse method for testing concrete		
24.	A view of the V-scope and the two transducers		
25.	Ultrasonic concrete tester		
26.	Field testing of mass concrete with the Soniscope		
27.	Effect of aggregate/cement ratio on the relationship between pulse velocity and cube compressive strength		
28.	Effect of type of aggregate on the relationship between pulse velocity and cube compressive strength.		
29.	Relationship between pulse velocity and modulus of rupture of concrete beams		
30.	Relationship between pulse velocity and setting characteristics of concrete		
31.	Loss in pulse velocity and flexural strength of concrete prism specimens after exposure to temperatures to 1,000°C		
32.	Relationship between pulse and static Young's moduli of elasticity		
33.	General arrangement for measuring density of concrete by means of gamma rays		
34.	Experimental arrangement for measuring the thickness of concrete by gamma rays.		
35.	A general view of apparatus for measuring variation in density in concrete cores		
36.	Back-scatter method for measuring the density of surface layers of concrete		
37.	A precast concrete structural unit being subjected to gamma radiography		

APPENDICES

Page

1.	Main Features of Indentation Test Hammers	59
2.	Calculation of Modulus of Elasticity and Poisson's Ratio	60
3.	Computations for Relative Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity and Durability	
	Factor	62
4.	Correlations Between Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity and Strength Proper-	
	ties of Concrete	63
5.	Logarithmic Decrement and Damping Constant	65
6.	Equations for Determination of Pulse Modulus of Elasticity	66

TABLES

1.	Comparison of Reproducibility of the Standard Methods of Measuring	
	Static and Dynamic Young's Modulus of Elasticity	23
2.	Some Typical Values for Pulse Velocity for Concrete made with Different	
	Aggregates	39

PREFACE

Concrete industry has made rapid advances over the past 30 years and it is the Mines Branch policy to promote research and to disseminate information on subjects of importance to this industry. During this period of phenomenal growth there have been a number of attempts to develop quick, inexpensive and nondestructive methods for testing of concrete both in the laboratory and in the structures.

The Mines Branch has been in the forefront in the use of nondestructive methods for testing metals. During the past 12 years these methods have also been applied to the testing of concrete and as a result considerable data and experience have been accumulated in their use. Based upon this experience, this monograph critically examines the various nondestructive methods currently in use and discusses their advantages and limitations. It is hoped this monograph will be used by practising engineers, technologists and graduate students engaged in the testing of concrete and strength evaluation of concrete structures.

> John Convey Director

PRÉFACE

L'industrie du béton a progressé rapidement au cours des 30 dernières années; la Direction des mines centre sa politique sur l'encouragement à la recherche et sur la diffusion de renseignements importants relatifs à cette industrie. Plusieurs tentatives de mise au point de méthodes rapides, peu coûteuses et non destructives d'essai du béton en laboratoire et dans les structures, ont marqué cette période de croissance phénoménale.

La Direction des mines demeure au premier plan dans la recherche de méthodes non destructives d'essai des métaux. Ces méthodes, appliquées au cours des 12 dernières années aux essais de béton, ont permis d'accumuler des données en quantité considérable et d'acquérir une riche expérience. La présente monographie, qui est le fruit de cette expérience, expose les diverses méthodes non destructives d'usage courant et passe en revue leurs avantages et leurs limitations. Espérons que les ingénieurs, les technologistes et les diplômés qui s'occupent des essais de béton et de l'évaluation de la résistance des structures de béton sauront mettre à profit cette monographie.

> John Convey Directeur

vi

NONDESTRUCTIVE METHODS FOR TESTING CONCRETE

V. M. Malhotra*

ABSTRACT

This monograph deals with nondestructive methods for testing concrete. The tests considered are based on (1) surface hardness (2) dynamic, and (3) radioactive methods.

Different methods of hardness testing are briefly mentioned and the Schmidt test hammer, based on the rebound principle, is described in detail. The calibrating procedure for the hammer is given and the test data published by various researchers are included.

Dynamic tests utilizing resonant frequency, mechanical sonic and ultrasonic pulse velocity are described in detail. The test equipment and the test procedures for these methods are outlined and their various applications and limitations are discussed.

A radioactive test method employing X-ray penetration tests is briefly mentioned. The principle of gamma radiography is given and some of its applications are described.

The monograph concludes with a list of 81 pertinent references.

RÉSUMÉ

La présente monographie traite des méthodes non destructives d'essai du béton. Les épreuves étudiées sont fondées sur (1) la dureté de surface, ainsi que sur (2) la méthode dynamique et (3) la méthode radio-active.

L'auteur mentionne brièvement différentes méthodes d'essais de dureté et décrit en détail le marteau d'essai Schmidt qui est une application du principe du rebondissement. Il explique aussi le procédé de calibrage du marteau et il rapporte les données sur les essais, publiées par divers chercheurs.

La monographie contient une description détaillée des essais dynamiques fondés sur la fréquence de résonance et sur la vitesse de propagation des ondes mécaniques sonores et ultrasonores. Elle traite brièvement de l'équipement et des procédés d'essai pour ces méthodes ainsi que de leurs diverses applications et limitations.

Enfin, l'auteur mentionne une méthode radio-active d'essai fondée sur la pénétration des rayons X, en plus de donner le principe de la gammagraphie et de décrire brièvement quelques-unes de ses applications.

La monographie se termine par une liste de 81 références appropriées.

This monograph was originally prepared for presentation as a basic text at the two-day course "Principles of Concrete Technology", sponsored by the Canadian Capital Chapter, American Concrete Institute, Ottawa, Canada, December 7 and 8, 1966.

^{*}Concrete Engineer, Construction Materials Section, Mineral Processing Division, Mines Branch, Department of Energy, Mines and Resources, Ottawa, Canada.

INTRODUCTION

At the present time, standard methods for testing hardened concrete consist of testing concrete specimens in tension, flexure, and compression. The main disadvantages of such methods are the delay in obtaining test results, the fact that the test specimens may not be truly representative of the concrete in the structure, the necessity of stressing the test specimens to failure, the lack of reproducibility in the test results, and the relatively high cost of testing. As a result, there have been a large number of attempts, over a period of about 30 years, to develop quick, inexpensive and nondestructive methods for testing concrete, both in the laboratory and in the structure.

Because the determination of strength implies that concrete specimens must be loaded to failure, it becomes abundantly clear that the nondestructive methods of testing cannot be expected to yield absolute values of strength. These methods, therefore, attempt to measure some other physical property of structural concrete from which an estimate of the strength and elastic parameters of concretes is obtained. Some such properties of concrete are its hardness, its resonant frequency, and its ability to absorb, scatter and transmit X-rays and gamma rays. Based upon these properties, various nondestructive methods of testing have been developed, which are classified as follows:

- 1. Surface Hardness Tests—These are used only for estimation of concrete strength.
- 2. Dynamic Tests—These include resonant frequency and mechanical sonic and ultrasonic pulse velocity methods. These are generally used to evaluate durability and uniformity of concrete, and to estimate its strength and elastic properties.
- 3. *Radioactive Methods*—These include the X-ray and gamma-ray penetration tests and have been used to measure the density and thickness of concrete.

This monograph discusses in some detail the surface hardness and dynamic tests; radioactive methods are of limited application and are only briefly described.

SURFACE HARDNESS TESTS

INDENTATION METHODS

Indentation methods are based upon the well-known nondestructive methods which use the Brinell indentation principle in testing metals. They consist essentially of hitting the surface of concrete in a standard manner and measuring the size of the indentation. The three known methods are:

- (i) The Williams testing pistol
- (ii) The Frank spring hammer
- (iii) The Einbeck pendulum hammer.

The indentation tests have won only limited recognition because of difficulties in measuring accurately the diameter and the depth of the indentation.



FIGURE 1. Testing pistol. After Williams (1).

Williams Testing Pistol

In 1936, Williams (1)* developed a "testing pistol" which uses a ball as an indenter as in the Brinell Test. Instead of being acted upon by a sustained load, however, the ball is projected with a suitable force by means of a specially designed pistol. The diameter of the impression made by the ball is measured by a magnifying scale or other means.

The testing pistol (Figure 1) measures approximately 6 x 5 x $1\frac{1}{2}$ inches and weighs about 2 pounds.

The utility of the method, according to Williams, depends on the approximate relationship which has been found to exist between the compressive strength of concrete and the resistance of its surface to impact. On the basis of some 200 tests, Williams established the following relationship:

 f_c is proportional to 1/Z,

where f_c is the compressive strength, and Z is the curved surface area of indentation.

Frank Spring Hammer

This hammer was developed in Germany (2)** and consists of a springcontrolled mechanism housed in a tubular frame. A line diagram of the hammer is shown in Figure 2. The tip of the hammer can be fitted with different diameters of ball, and impact is achieved by placing the hammer up against the surface under test and manipulating the spring mechanism. The diameter or depth of indentation is measured and this in turn is correlated with the compressive strength of concrete.



FIGURE 2. Frank spring hammer. After Gaede (2).

Einbeck Pendulum Hammer

This hammer was developed in Germany (2, 3) by Einbeck. A line diagram of the hammer is given in Figure 3. The hammer consists of a horizontal leg at the end of which is pivoted an arm with a pendulum head weighing about 5 pounds. The indentation is made by holding the horizontal leg against the concrete surface under test and allowing the pendulum head to strike the concrete. The diameter

^{*}The numbers in parentheses refer to the list of references appended to this monograph.

^{**}Manufactured by Karl Frank G.M.b.H. Prufmaschinenbau, 17a Weinheim-Birkenau (Odenwald), West Germany.



FIGURE 3. Einbeck pendulum hammer. After Gaede (4).

and depth of indentation are measured and these are then correlated with the compressive strength of concrete. The height of fall of the pendulum head can be varied from full impact (180 degrees) to half impact (90 degrees). Figure 4 shows the hammer in use.

The biggest drawback of this instrument is that it can only be used on vertical surfaces.

The main features of the Frank spring hammer and the Einbeck pendulum hammer are compared in Appendix I.

REBOUND METHOD

This method is based upon the rebound principle as postulated by Shore(4). The Shore scleroscope method depends on the height of rebound of a hardened steel hammer when it is dropped on the metal under test. The only known instrument using this principle for concrete testing is the test hammer by Schmidt.

Schmidt Test Hammer

In 1948 a Swiss engineer, Ernst Schmidt, developed a test hammer for measuring the surface hardness of concrete by the rebound principle. Results of his work were presented to the Swiss Federal Materials Testing and Experimental Institute of Zurich (2, 5, 6, 7), where the hammer was constructed and extensively tested. Since then this nondestructive method has gained world-wide recognition in laboratories, at construction sites, and in the precast concrete industry.



FIGURE 4. Einbeck pendulum hammer in use. After Gaede (2).

Principle

The Schmidt rebound hammer is principally a surface hardness tester with little apparent theoretical relationship between the strength of concrete and the rebound number of the hammer. However, within limits, empirical correlations have been established between strength properties and the rebound number. Further, Kolek (8) has attempted to establish a correlation between the hammer rebound number and the hardness as measured by the Brinell method.



FIGURE 5. Schmidt test hammer.

Description

The Schmidt rebound hammer type N 2 (others are type M and type L) is shown in Figure 5. The hammer weighs about 4 pounds and is suitable for use both in the laboratory and in the field.

A cut-away view of the hammer is shown in Figure 6. It consists of a springcontrolled weight E, which slides on plunger A, housed within the tubular frame B. When the spring H is fully extended, an automatic trigger J is engaged, thus causing the weight to strike the plunger. As the weight E rebounds from the plunger, it moves the sliding index C along the scale D. By pushing button F, the sliding index can be held in position to allow readings to be taken.



FIGURE 6. A cut-away view of the Schmidt test hammer. After Kolek (8).

Method of Testing

The determination of the hammer rebound number is a very simple procedure and is outlined in the manual supplied by the manufacturer. Briefly, it consists of releasing the plunger from the locked position by pressing it gently against a hard surface. The hammer is then ready for use. To carry out the test, the plunger is pressed strongly against the concrete surface under test. This releases the springloaded weight from its locked position, thus causing an impact. While the hammer is still in its testing position, the sliding index is read to the nearest whole number. This reading is designated as the hammer rebound number. The number of the readings to be taken per test is the same as for calibrating the hammer, as described in the section on calibration procedure.

Figures 7 and 8 show the hammer being used to test a 6×12 -inch concrete cylinder and the concrete wing wall of a roadway bridge in Ottawa, Canada (9).

The test can be conducted horizontally, vertically upwards or downwards, or at any intermediate angle. At each angle the rebound number will be different for the same concrete, and will require separate calibration or correction charts. Zoldners (10) has shown that 5 points have to be added to the readings in the downward direction to translate these readings to the values for horizontal testing.



FIGURE 7 Schmidt test hammer in use to test a 6 x 12-inch concrete cylinder. After Malhotra (9). Note that the cylinder has been restrained in a compression testing machine.

Calibration Procedure

Each hammer is furnished with a calibration chart supplied by the manufacturer. This calibration chart can be used only when material and testing conditions are similar to those in effect when the calibration of the instrument was carried out. Each hammer varies slightly in performance, and needs calibration for use on concrete made with aggregates produced from a specific source. A practical procedure for calibrating the hammer is outlined below:

- (a) Prepare a number of 6 x 12-inch cylinders (or 6-inch cubes) covering the strength range which is to be encountered on the job site. Use the same cement and aggregates as are to be used on the job. Cure the cylinders under standard moist curing room conditions (temperature $73 \pm 2^{\circ}F$ and relative humidity 100 per cent), keeping the curing period the same as the specified control age in the field.
- (b) After capping, place the cylinders in a compression testing machine, under an initial load of approximately 15 per cent of the ultimate load to restrain the specimen (Figure 7). Ensure that cylinders are in a saturated surface-dry condition.



FIGURE 8 Concrete wing wall of a roadway bridge under test using the Schmidt test hammer. After Malhotra (9).

- (c) Make 15 hammer rebound readings, five on each of three vertical lines, 120 degrees apart, against the side surface in the middle two-thirds of each cylinder. Avoid hitting the same spot twice. For cubes, select the central area of the moulded face and take 15 readings without hitting the same spot twice.
- (d) Discard those five readings that are either too high or too low. These may be due to hitting stone particles or air voids behind apparently sound surface areas.
- (e) Average the readings and call this the rebound number for the cylinder (or cube) under test.
- (f) Repeat this procedure for all the cylinders (or cubes).
- (g) Test the cylinders (or cubes) to failure in compression, and plot the rebound numbers against the compression strengths in psi on a graph.



FIGURE 9. Relationship between cube compressive strength and Schmidt rebound number determined by Swiss Federal Testing Laboratory for hard-aggregate concretes. After Greene (11).

Fit a curve or a line by the method of least squares and draw the respective 95 per cent confidence limits.

A typical curve established by the Swiss Federal Testing Laboratory (11) for hard aggregate concrete is shown in Figure 9.

Figure 10 shows four calibration curves obtained by research workers in five different countries. It is important to note that some of the curves deviate considerably from the curve which is supplied with the hammer.

Limitations of Schmidt Test Hammer

Although the test hammer provides a quick, inexpensive means of checking concrete quality, it has serious limitations and these have to be recognized. The results of the Schmidt test hammer are affected by:

- (a) Smoothness of the surface under test;
- (b) Size, shape and rigidity of the specimen;
- (c) Age of the specimen;
- (d) Surface and internal moisture condition of the concrete;



- (e) Type of coarse aggregate;
- (f) Type of mould.

These limitations are discussed in the foregoing order.

(a) Smoothness of surface under test—This has an important effect on the accuracy of the test results. The Swiss Federal Materials Testing and Experimental Institute recommends that the hammer be used only on surfaces where the concrete was cast against forms (11). Whenever the formed surface is rough, more accurate results can be obtained by grinding it to *uniform smoothness* with a carborundum stone. It has been shown (8, 11) that trowelled surfaces or surfaces made against metal forms yield rebound numbers from 5 to 25 per cent higher than do surfaces made against wooden forms. This implies that if such surfaces are to be used, a special calibration curve or a correction chart must be obtained. Further, trowelled surfaces will give a higher scatter of individual results and, therefore, a low confidence for such a correlation.

(b) Size, shape and rigidity of test specimens—If the concrete section or a specimen is small, such as a thin beam, wall, 6-inch cube, or 6×12 -inch cylinder, any movement under the impact will lower the rebound readings. In such cases the member has to be fixed or backed up by a heavy mass.

Surface Hardness Tests



FIGURE 11. Restraining load vs rebound readings for 6 x 12-inch cylinders. After Mitchell and Hoagland (12).

If small test specimens, for example, 6×12 -inch cylinders, are the only ones available, it is best to grip the specimen in the testing machine as outlined in the calibrating procedure. This eliminates movement and increases the effective mass of the cube by that of the machine. It is, however, suggested that smaller test pieces should preferably be avoided, because they give consistently lower rebound numbers and a higher scatter of results.

It has been shown (12) that the restraining load at which the rebound number remains constant appears to vary with the individual specimen; however, the effective restraining load for consistent results appears to be about 15 per cent of the ultimate strength of the specimen (Figure 11). Zoldners (10), Greene (11), Grieb (13), have indicated effective loads of 150, 250 and 300 psi respectively and these are considerably lower than the 15 per cent value obtained by Mitchell and Hoagland (12).

(c) Age of test specimens—It is claimed (10) that for equal strength, higher rebound values are obtained on 7-day cylinders than on 28-day cylinders. The explanation is that at early ages the outside surface of concrete probably hardens faster than the internal strength increases. It is suggested that when old concrete is to be tested, direct correlation should be established between the rebound numbers and the compressive strength of cores taken from the structure.

The use of the Schmidt hammer for testing low-strength concrete at early ages, or where concrete strength is less than 1,000 psi, is not recommended (12), because rebound numbers are too low for accurate reading and the test hammer badly damages the concrete surface. Figure 12 shows blemishes on surfaces of 8-hour-and 3-day-old concrete cylinders, caused by hammer impact.



FIGURE 12. Eight-hour-old (left) and three-day-old (right) specimens showing surface blemishes after hammer impact. After Mitchell and Hoagland (12).

(d) Surface and internal moisture condition of the concrete—The degree of saturation of the concrete and the presence of surface moisture have a decisive effect on the evaluation of test hammer results (10, 14). It has been demonstrated (10) that well cured, air-dry specimens, when soaked in water and tested in the saturated surface-dry condition, show rebound readings 5 points lower than when tested dry. When the same specimens were left in a room at 70°F and air dried, they recovered 3 points in 3 days and 5 points in 7 days. Klieger (15) has shown that differences up to 10 to 12 points in rebound numbers exist in a case of 3-year-old concrete (made with type III cement and a sand and gravel from Texas) between specimens stored in a wet condition and laboratory-dry samples. This difference in rebound numbers represents approximately 2,000 psi compressive strength.

It is suggested that, whenever the actual moisture condition of the field concrete or specimen is not known, it would be desirable to presaturate the surface several hours prior to testing and use the correlation for the saturated surface-dry condition.

(e) Type of coarse aggregate—It is generally agreed that the rebound number is affected by the type of aggregate used. According to Klieger (15), for equal compressive strengths, concretes made with crushed limestone coarse aggregate show rebound numbers approximately 7 points lower than those for concretes



FIGURE 13. Effect of gravel from different sources on rebound readings of 6 x 12-inch concrete cylinders. After Grieb (13).

made with gravel coarse aggregate, representing approximately 1,000 psi difference in compressive strength.

Grieb (13) has shown that, even though the type of coarse aggregate used is the same, if it is obtained from different sources different calibration curves would be needed. Figure 13 shows results of one such study where four different gravels were used in making the concrete cylinders tested. The spread in compressive strength among the curves representing the concrete prepared with the four gravel coarse aggregates varied from 250 to 600 psi.

Greene(11), in his applications of the Schmidt hammer, found that the use of the test hammer on specimens and structures made of lightweight concrete showed widely differing results. For example, lightweight concrete made with expanded shale aggregate yielded different rebound numbers than concrete made

with pumice aggregate, at equal compressive strengths. But for any given type of lightweight aggregate concrete, the rebound numbers proved to be proportional to the compressive strength.

(f) Type of Mould—Mitchell and Hoagland (12) have carried out studies to determine the effect of the type of concrete mould on the rebound number. Companion cylinders cast in steel, tin can, and paper carton moulds showed no significant difference in the rebound readings between those cast in steel moulds and tin can moulds, but the paper carton-moulded specimens gave higher rebound numbers. This is probably due to the fact that the paper mould withdraws moisture from the plastic concrete, thus lowering the water-cement ratio at the surface and resulting in a higher strength in this area. Since the hammer is a surface hardness tester, it is possible for the hammer to indicate nonexistent high strength from a hardened surface. It is therefore suggested that if paper carton moulds are being used in the field, the hammer should be calibrated against the strength results obtained from test cylinders cast in such moulds.

Rebound Number and Compressive Strength

It is generally agreed (16, 17, 18) that there is a correlation between compressive strength of concrete and the hammer rebound number. However, there is a wide degree of disagreement among various researchers concerning the accuracy of the estimation of strength from the rebound readings. Coefficients of variation for compressive strength for a wide variety of specimens average 18.8 per cent, and exceed 30 per cent for some groups of specimens (12). Figure 14 shows one typical histogram for rebound number 20 (18). These large deviations in strength can be narrowed down considerably by proper calibration of the hammer which allows for various variables discussed earlier. By consensus, the accuracy of estimation by a properly calibrated hammer lies between \pm 15 and \pm 20 per cent.

Recently, Boundy and Hondros (19) have suggested the use of the rebound hammer in conjunction with some method of accelerated curing to provide a rapid and convenient method for estimating the strength and quality of concrete.

Rebound Number and Flexural Strength

Various investigators (11, 15) have established correlations between the flexural strength of concrete and the hammer rebound number. They have found that the relationships are similar to those obtained for compressive strength, except that the scatter of the results is greater. Further, they found that the results of tests conducted on the top or finished surface of a beam were 5 to 15 per cent lower than those conducted on the sides of the same beam.

The effects of moisture condition and aggregate type on the flexural strength are similar to those found in the compressive strength.

Rebound Number and Modulus of Elasticity

Mitchell and Hoagland (12) have attempted to correlate hammer rebound number with the modulus of elasticity of the concrete specimens. They concluded that no valid correlation could be made directly between the rebound number



and modulus of elasticity; however, a satisfactory relationship between the two might be possible if the hammer were to be calibrated for each individual mix tested.

Petersen and Stoll (16) and Klieger (17) have established an empirical relationship between dynamic* modulus of elasticity and rebound number. They have shown that the relationships are affected by both moisture condition and aggregate type in the same manner as for compressive and flexural strengths.

LIMITS AND USEFULNESS OF SURFACE HARDNESS TESTS

On the basis of the literature reviewed and the work carried out at the Mines Branch, it is concluded that:

^{*}Modulus of elasticity obtained by flexural vibration of cylindrical or prismoidal specimen.

- 1. Concrete hardness test methods based on the indentation principle have not found wide acceptance.
- 2. The Schmidt test hammer, based on the rebound principle, provides a simple and quick method for nondestructive testing of concrete in the laboratory, in the precast concrete industry, and in the field.
- 3. The limitations of the Schmidt hammer should be recognized. It is emphasized that this instrument must not be regarded as a substitute for standard compression tests but as a method of providing very limited field control at a negligible cost. Prediction of strength of concrete by the rebound hammer may be possible only for specimens cast, cured and tested under identical conditions as those from which the calibration curves are established.

DYNAMIC METHODS

Since 1938 dynamic testing techniques have been used for testing concrete, both in the laboratory and in the field. In addition to measuring the fundamental properties of concrete in the laboratory, these methods have been used to check the quality of concrete in bridge piers, road pavements, and concrete hydraulic structures of up to 50 feet in thickness.

The fundamental principles on which these methods are based were given by Rayleigh as early as 1877, when he reported the mathematical relationship existing between resonant frequency of vibration of a specimen, the velocity of sound through the material, and its modulus of elasticity (20).

Dynamic testing techniques can be divided into three principal methods. These are:

- (a) Resonant Frequency Method—This method is based upon determination of the fundamental resonant frequency of vibration of a specimen, the continuous vibrations being generated electronically. This method has been standardized by the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM).
- (b) Mechanical Sonic Pulse Velocity Method—This method involves. measurement of the time of travel of longitudinal or compressional waves generated by a single impact hammer blow or repetitive blows. It has found relatively little acceptance.
- (c) Ultrasonic Pulse Velocity Method—This method involves measurement of the time of travel of electronically generated pulses through concrete, the time interval being measured by a cathode ray oscilloscope. This method has gained considerable popularity and also has been standardized by the ASTM.

Resonant Frequency Method

This method was first developed by Powers (21) in the United States in 1938. He determined the resonant frequency by matching the musical tone given by the specimen, when tapped by a hammer, with that given by one of a set of orchestra bells calibrated according to frequency. A year later, in 1939, Hornibrook (22) refined the method by using electronic equipment to measure the resonance. Other early investigations on the development of this method included those by Thompson (23) in 1940, Obert and Duvall (24) in 1941, and Stanton (25) in 1949. In all the tests that followed the work of Hornibrook, the specimens were driven vertically and the resonant frequency read accurately from the graduated scale of a variable audio oscillator. The equipment is usually known as a Sonometer. The ASTM published this method as a tentative standard in 1947 and since then has revised it four times (26). In the United Kingdom this method was incorporated in British Standards (27) in 1952.

Resonant frequency methods are used almost exclusively within the laboratory and involve the determination of frequencies of vibration of concrete prisms and cylinders for the purpose of calculating Young's moduli of elasticity and rigidity, for determining the Poisson's ratio, and for durability studies. The modulus measured by this method is commonly referred to as the resonance or dynamic modulus instead of the pulse or sonic modulus (28) in order to avoid confusion with the Soniscope, which is the name of the instrument used for determining pulse velocity and which will be described later.

Salient Features of a Typical Testing Apparatus

The testing apparatus required by ASTM Standard C 215-60 is shown schematically in Figure 15. Equipment meeting the ASTM specifications has been



FIGURE 15. Schematic diagram of a typical apparatus, showing driver and pick-up positions for the three types of vibration. After ASTM Standard C 215-60.

- A-for transverse resonance
- B-for torsional resonance

C—for longitudinal resonance



FIGURE 16a. A $3\frac{1}{2} \times 4 \times 16$ -inch concrete beam being transversely vibrated by a Sonometer manufactured in the United States. The pick-up is shown between the Sonometer and the beam, while the vibrating unit is on the left. Note that the beam is supported on a cushion of soft rubber.

designed by various commercial organizations and is currently being used by several laboratories in Canada and the United States. Commercially available Sonometers from the United States and Great Britain are shown in Figures 16a and 16b.

The testing apparatus consists primarily of two sections, one of which generates mechanical vibrations and the other senses these vibrations.

Vibration Generating Section

The principal part of this section is an electronic audio frequency oscillator, which generates electrical audio frequency voltages. The oscillator output is amplified to a level suitable for producing mechanical vibrations. The relatively undistorted power output of the amplifier is fed to the driver unit for conversion into mechanical vibrations.

Vibration Sensing Section

The mechanical vibrations are sensed by a piezo-electric crystal pick-up. The pick-up is contained in a separate unit and converts mechanical vibrations to electrical frequencies. These frequencies are amplified for the operation of a panel-mounted resonance-indicating meter. As the driver oscillator is turned to the proper frequency, deflection of the meter needle indicates resonance. Visible indications of fundamental modes of different vibrations can be obtained easily through the use of an auxiliary cathode ray oscilloscope, and its use is generally recommended.

Use and Operation of Sonometer

Some skill and experience are needed to determine the resonant frequency as shown by a meter-type indicator or a cathode-ray oscilloscope, because several

Dynamic Methods



FIGURE 16b. A view of the Electrodynamic tester made in Great Britain. Test bench in lower half of photograph shows driver (right) and pick-up (left). (Courtesy of M. Falk & Co. Ltd., England.)

maximum frequencies may be obtained. Specimens having either very small or very large ratios of length to maximum transverse direction are frequently difficult to excite in the fundamental mode of vibration. It has been suggested that

the best results are obtained when this ratio is between three and five. ASTM Designation C 215-60 specifies that the above ratio be at least as great as two.

The supports for the specimen under test should be of a material having a fundamental frequency outside the frequency range being investigated and should permit the specimen to vibrate without significant restriction. Ideally, the specimens should be held at the nodal points but a sheet of soft sponge rubber is quite satisfactory and is preferred if the specimens are being used for freezethaw studies.

The fundamental transverse vibration of a specimen has only two nodal points, at distances from each end of 0.224 times the length. The amplitude is maximum at the ends, about three fifths of the maximum at the centre, and zero at the nodal points. Therefore, movement of the pick-up along the length of the specimen will show whether it is vibrating at its fundamental frequency.

For fundamental longitudinal and torsional vibration, there is a point of zero vibration (node) at the mid-point of the specimen and maximum amplitude at the ends.

The fundamental frequency should be calculated from the formulae in Appendix II and frequencies within \pm 15 per cent of this should be investigated. The equations given in the Appendix are modifications of equations applicable to specimens which are very long in relation to their cross section. The modifications of the equations have been developed and checked by Pickett (29) and Spinner and Tefft (30). It should be remembered that the dynamic modulus of elasticity may range from 2×10^6 psi for low-quality concretes at early ages to 7×10^6 psi for good quality concrete at later ages (31).

Sometime in the sonic testing of concrete, two peaks may appear close together in the frequency response curve. Kesler and Higuchi (32) have referred to it as the double hump phenomenon and believe this to be caused by a nonsymmetrical shape of specimen which causes interference with vibration of the specimen in some direction other than that intended. Proper choice of specimen size and shape should practically eliminate this problem; for example in a specimen of rectangular cross section the above problem can be eliminated by vibrating the specimen in the direction parallel to the short side.

The approximate range of fundamental longitudinal and flexural resonant frequencies of standard concrete specimen given by Jones and Gatfield (33) are as follows:

Size of Specimen, inches	Approximate Range of Transverse Resonant Frequency, c/s	Approximate Range of Longitudinal Resonant Frequency, c/s	
$28 \times 6 \times 6 \text{ beam}$ $20 \times 4 \times 4 \text{ beam}$ $12 \times 6 \text{ cylinder}$	550—1150 900—1600 2500—4500	1800—3200 2500—4500 4000—7500	

Calculation of Moduli of Elasticity and Rigidity, and Poisson's Ratio

The dynamic moduli of elasticity and rigidity and the Poisson's ratio can be

calculated by equations given in ASTM Designation C 215-60. These equations are given in Appendix II.

It is stressed that the corrections to the theoretical equations in all cases involve Poisson's ratio. These corrections are considerably greater for transverse resonant frequency than for longitudinal resonant frequency. For example, a standard $4 \times 4 \times 20$ -inch prism requires a correction factor of about 27 per cent at the fundamental transverse resonance, as compared with less than one half per cent at the fundamental longitudinal resonance (34, 35).

Effect of Curing Conditions on Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity

Obert and Duvall (24) have shown that, although the dynamic modulus of elasticity depends on the moisture content, the change in the modulus with drying is rather small after about 3 or 4 days of air drying. Whereas a sufficiently accurate comparison could be obtained with a saturated specimen, it was considered that a better time for testing was after 3 or 4 days of air drying.

Further, it has been shown that a large decrease in the dynamic modulus of elasticity occurs over the first 48 hours of oven drying but the subsequent change is small. Oven drying, even at as low a temperature as 100°F, causes an irreversible reduction of the modulus, the reasons for which are unknown. A possible explanation is that even this low temperature might liberate some of the combined water and thus affect the value of the dynamic modulus of elasticity. This test, therefore, might not give a valid result in studies involving repeated wetting and drying of the specimen.

Kesler and Higuchi (36), in their studies, have concluded:

- 1. For the same curing conditions, the dynamic modulus of elasticity increases as the strength increases.
- 2. If the concrete is kept moist the modulus of elasticity increases with age, and if the concrete is allowed to dry the modulus of elasticity decreases with age.

Reproducibility of Test Results

There are limited data available on the reproducibility of test results of dynamic Young's modulus of elasticity. Jones (35) has published data which indicate that for standard-size beams and cylinders the reproducibility of dynamic Young's modulus is very much superior to that obtained in static tests (Table 1).

Table 1			
Comparison of Reproducibility of the Standard Methods of Measuring Static and Dynamic Young's Modulus of Elasticity*			

Size of Specimen	Young's Modulus	No. of Specimens	Standard Error of 3 Results (1b/sq. in. × 10°)
12×6 -inch cylinders	Static	3	0.093
$12 \times 3 \times 3$ -inch beams	Static	3	0.146
$28 \times 6 \times 6$ -inch beams	Dynamic	3	0.039
$20 \times 4 \times 4$ -inch beams	Dynamic	3	0.051
$12 \times 3 \times 3$ -inch beams	Dynamic	3	0.054

*After Jones (35).

According to Jones, the greater variability of the results of the static modulus is due to greater errors in the testing rather than to greater variability between specimens; on the other hand, each of the measurements in the resonance method, *i.e.*, resonant frequency, length and density, can be measured to a high order of accuracy.

Resonant Frequency and Durability of Concrete

The determination of flexural resonance has been employed with considerable advantage in North America to study the effects of successive accelerated freezing and thawing cycles on concrete specimens. The advantages of this method are:

- (a) The repeated tests can be carried out on the same specimen over a very long period, and the number of test specimens to be cast is therefore considerably reduced.
- (b) The results obtained with flexural resonance methods are more reproducible than those obtained with destructive types of tests (35).

Extensive studies of changes in dynamic modulus of elasticity with the deterioration of concrete subjected to freezing and thawing have been reported by Hornibrook (22), Thompson (23), Willis and de Reus (23), Long and Kurtz (37), and Axon, Willis and Reagel (38). Results of one such study are shown in Figure 17. The ASTM has accepted resonance frequency methods* for studying the deterioration of concrete specimens subjected to repeated cycles of freezing and thawing. These methods require the calculation of the relative dynamic modulus of elasticity and durability factor. The computations involved are given in Appendix III.

Correlation between Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity and Strength Properties of Concrete

Several investigators (36-46) have attempted to establish relations between the dynamic modulus of elasticity and strength of concrete. Some of these correlations appear to hold for the particular type of concrete investigated, but it is doubtful that any generalized relationships can be given. It is therefore considered that if the flexural or compressive strengths of concrete are to be estimated from the dynamic modulus of elasticity, it is most essential first to establish an experimental relationship between these parameters and the dynamic modulus of elasticity.

The following statement by Jones (35) best sums up the state of the art as regards the relationship between the dynamic modulus of elasticity and the strength of concrete:

In spite of some of the promising results of the early investigations, it must be concluded that no general relationship exists between the dynamic modulus of concrete and its flexural or compressive strength. Nevertheless, limited correlations are obtained when the changes in the dynamic modulus and strength are produced by changes in the age of the concrete, the degree of compaction, the water/cement ratio, or by deterioration.

^{*}ASTM Standards 290-61T and 291-61T.



FIGURE 17. Effect of cycles of freezing and thawing on dynamic Young's modulus of elasticity. After Long and Kurtz (37).

Notwithstanding the above limitations and the statement of Jones, relationships between the strength parameters and the dynamic modulus of elasticity have been reported by various researchers, and are given in Appendix IV. Two such relationships are illustrated in Figures 18 and 19.

Comparison of Moduli of Elasticity Determined from Longitudinal and Transverse Frequencies

In normal routine calculation of dynamic modulus, only the transverse frequencies are determined. However, Batchelder and Lewis (47) have shown that excellent correlation exists between the moduli calculated from the transverse and longitudinal frequencies (Figure 20).





FIGURE 18. Relationship between dynamic modulus of elasticity and compressive strength. After Sharma and Gupta (44).

Jones (34, 35) in his studies found that for wet concretes there was no appreciable difference in the dynamic Young's modulus of elasticity determined from the transverse and longitudinal modes of vibration. However, when the beams were allowed to dry, the Young's modulus calculated from the transverse vibrations was lower than that calculated from longitudinal vibrations. This was attributed to the moisture within the concrete beam.

Comparison of Dynamic and Static Moduli of Elasticity

A considerable amount of work has been carried out by various researchers to establish the relationship between dynamic Young's modulus and static modulus obtained from conventional stress-strain methods conducted at low rates of loading. The following observations may be made from the work reported by Powers (21), Stanton (25), Witte and Price (25), Philleo (28), Sharma and Gupta (44), Whitehurst (48), and Klieger (49):

- (a) The dynamic modulus of elasticity is generally somewhat higher than the static modulus; the difference depends upon the degree of precautions taken during the conduct of the experiments and the applications of the correction factors allowed for in the equations for the computations of the dynamic modulus.
- (b) As the age of the specimen increases, the ratio of static modulus to dynamic modulus also increases and more nearly approaches 1.0.*

^{*}On the basis of tests of 2-year-old specimens reported by Witte and Price, the static modulus in compression was equivalent to 89 per cent of the dynamic modulus, while the static modulus in flexure was equal to 88 per cent of the dynamic modulus. When the tests were repeated after the specimens were 3 years old, these values were found to be 96 to 87 per cent respectively.

Dynamic Methods



FIGURE 19. Relationship between dynamic modulus of elasticity and flexural strength. After Kaplan (46).

(c) For higher static moduli of elasticity, the values for both dynamic and static moduli of elasticity show close agreement.

Figure 21 shows the relationship between static and dynamic moduli for high-strength concretes (44).

Damping Properties of Concrete

Thompson (23) and Obert and Duvall (24) have shown that the quality of concrete can be determined from its damping ability. The measures of damping ability are the logarithmic decrement and the damping constant. These parameters are defined in Appendix V, where the equations for their calculations are also given.

The use of the damping properties of concrete has found little acceptance and there are very few laboratories which carry out these tests as a matter of routine.




FIGURE 20. Comparison of moduli of elasticity determined from longitudinal and transverse frequencies. After Batchelder and Lewis (47).

LIMITS AND USEFULNESS OF RESONANT FREQUENCY TEST METHODS

Though the basic equipment and testing procedures associated with the resonant frequency techniques have been standardized and commercial units are available, the usefulness of the tests is seriously limited because they can normally only be carried out on laboratory-size specimens.

These methods provide an excellent means for studying the deterioration of concrete specimens subjected to repeated cycles of freezing and thawing, and their use for these studies is recommended.

The resonant frequency test results may be used to calculate dynamic Young's modulus of elasticity of concrete, but the values obtained are somewhat higher than those obtained with standard static tests carried out at lower rates of loading.

Various investigators have published correlations between the strength of

Dynamic Methods



FIGURE 21. Relationship between static modulus of elasticity and ratio of static to dynamic moduli. After Sharma and Gupta (44).

concrete and its dynamic modulus of elasticity. The use of such correlations to predict compressive and/or flexural strength of concrete is strongly discouraged unless similar relationships have been established in the laboratory for the concrete under investigation.

MECHANICAL SONIC PULSE VELOCITY METHODS

Single-Blow Pulse Method

The first detailed application of pulse methods to the testing of concrete *in situ* was reported by Long, Kurtz and Sandenaw (39) in 1945. The basic principle of the method is that a longitudinal or compressional wave is initiated by a single hammer blow, and the time it takes to travel between pick-ups standing on the surface of the concrete is measured.

A schematic diagram of the single-impact test apparatus is shown in Figure 22, and its operation is briefly described below:

An impact is applied in a horizontal direction in a line with two pick-ups. The measurement of the time interval is achieved electronically by an instrument, known as an "interval timer", which is operated from electrical signals produced by the mechanical pulse at each pick-up. The electrical pulse from the first pickup, after amplification, triggers a thyratron valve which starts an electrical current flowing through a triode and a ballastic galvanometer; the signal from the second pick-up triggers a second thyratron valve to stop the flow of current to the galvanometer. The galvanometer deflection is, therefore, proportional to the time



FIGURE 22. Schematic diagram of velocity test apparatus—single blow hammer method. After Orchard (31).

taken for the impulse to pass between the two pick-ups. The impulse velocity is calculated from an equation involving current through the galvanometer, the distance between the pick-ups, the galvanometer constant, and the deflection of the galvanometer.

The results of Long, Kurtz and Sandenaw show a good correlation between flexural strength values and the pulse modulus* determined by the "interval timer."

Mitchell (50) in the United States and Andersen and Nerenst (51) in Denmark, have done considerable work in the use of the single-blow pulse method.

Sources of Error in Single-Blow Pulse Method

In spite of the good correlation between flexural strengths and the pulse modulus, reported by Long, Kurtz and Sandenaw, there are a number of possible sources of error in this method. This may explain the relative lack of popularity of this technique. Some of the sources of errors are:

(a) Errors are likely to be introduced because of the assumed value of the Poisson's ratio.

^{*}Modulus of elasticity when obtained using pulse velocity techniques is called the "pulse modulus"; the method for its calculation is given later.

- (b) The "interval timer" used in the apparatus described above measures the interval between the attainment of specific voltages of each pick-up. The time interval measured may therefore be greater than that taken up by the initial onset of the pulse in travelling between the two pickups.
- (c) The measurement of the travel time may be affected by the intensity and direction of the hammer blow.
- (d) The method only measures the surface condition of concrete *in situ* and not of the structure as a whole.
- (e) There is a possible reduction in the amplitude of the pulse as it travels through the concrete.

Repetitive-Blows Pulse Method

Because of the inherent time measurement errors associated with the singleimpact devices, experimental work was undertaken in several countries to improve the precision of these measurements. As a result, a new technique was developed in France (52).

In this method, a pulse is produced five times per second by a mechanical hammer. The pulses are received by a single magnetostrictive pick-up, a nickel rod biased by a magnet, and the electrical pulses are displaced on a cathode-ray oscilloscope. The time measurement, which is one of the major sources of error in the single-impact hammer method, is very precise in the current ultrasonic devices.

Figure 23 shows the repetitive-pulse equipment. This method appears to have been used with great success in the Paris region of France, where correlations between the pulse velocity and the strength parameters of concrete have been established.

ULTRASONIC PULSE VELOCITY METHOD

This method was developed in Canada in 1945 by Leslie and Cheesman (53) and at about the same time in England by Jones (34, 35, 54). The Canadian studies, carried out in Toronto at the Hydro-Electric Power Commission of Ontario, were aimed at developing a nondestructive method to examine concrete in dams ranging in thickness up to 40 feet. These studies resulted in the development of an instrument known as the Soniscope. Since then a considerable amount of work has been reported on the use of this instrument, both in Canada (53, 55-58) and in the United States (28, 47, 48, 49, 58-65).

The purpose of the research work carried out at the Road Research Laboratory, England, was to develop a technique for testing laboratory specimens. That work led to the development of an instrument known as the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester. The development and use of this instrument have been reported in great detail by Jones (35, 66), Jones and Gatfield (33) and Kaplan (67, 68).

Several reports have been published in Russia on the use of vibration and ultrasonic techniques. Whitehurst (69) mentions one such report, which describes



FIGURE 23. Repetitive-blows pulse method for testing concrete. After Jones (35).

the design and operation of an ultrasonic testing apparatus in connection with the construction of the Moscow Ring Road.

Figures 24 and 25 show the latest models of the Soniscope and Ultrasonic Concrete Tester.

Basic Principle

The ultrasonic pulse velocity method consists of measuring the time of travel of an ultrasonic wave passing through the concrete to be tested. An electrical impulse from a central unit is transmitted to a sending transducer where it excites a block of crystals. The transducer, through the block, emits an ultrasonic pulse which travels through the concrete under test to the receiving transducer. Here the ultrasonic pulse is converted back into an electric impulse which is then displayed on the face of a cathode-ray oscilloscope. The time of travel between the initial onset and the reception of the pulse is measured electronically. The path length between transducers, divided by the time of travel, gives the average velocity of wave propagation.

Design Features of Soniscope and Ultrasonic Concrete Tester

The fundamental design features of both the Soniscope and the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester are very similar. Both instruments consist of a pulse generator and a pulse receiver. In the Soniscope, pulses are generated by Rochelle salt crystals, and similar crystals are used in the pulse receiver; in the Ultrasonic Concrete



FIGURE 24 A view of the V-scope and two transducers. (Courtesy of James Electronics Inc., Chicago.)

Tester the pulses are produced by shock-exciting piezo-quartz crystals, and similar or more excitable Rochelle crystals are used in the receiver. The time taken for the pulse to pass through the concrete is measured by electronic measuring circuits that, though different in detail in the two instruments, perform essentially the same function.

One difference between the two types of equipment is that the resonant frequency of the transducers used with the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester is considerably higher (about 150 kc) than that of the transducers used with the Soniscope (about 20 kc). As a result of the difference in the frequency of the transducers, the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester has a testing range of about 7 feet whereas the Soniscope can be used to test concretes ranging in thickness up to 75 feet.

The time for the pulse to travel between the two transducers is measured on a cathode ray oscilloscope by placing the transducers on opposite faces of the concrete. The vibration of the transducers is transferred across each transducerconcrete interface by a coupling medium such as a thin film of oil, soap, jelly, or kaolin-glycerol paste. If concrete surfaces are very rough these are ground smooth or filled in with a thin coating of plaster.



FIGURE 25. Ultrasonic concrete tester. The two 1-inch transducers and a test beam can be seen on the left. (Courtesy of M. Falk & Co. Ltd., England.)

Accuracy of Measurement

It is generally agreed that the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester can measure the transit time through small specimens with an accuracy of 0.1 microsecond (0.5 microsecond for the Soniscope using small concrete specimens).

Reproducibility of Test Results

Few published data are available regarding the reproducibility of the test results obtained with the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester. Mather (62) has concluded that the reproducibility of results obtained with normal uncracked concrete using various operators and Soniscope is within 1 per cent.

Application of Pulse Velocity Methods

The Soniscope and the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester have been used to evaluate concrete structures and attempts have been made to correlate the pulse velocity with strength and other properties of concrete. The various applications of the pulse velocity methods are listed and described below:

- (a) Establishing uniformity of concrete.
- (b) Establishing acceptance criteria.
- (c) Determination of pulse modulus of elasticity.
- (d) Estimation of strength of concrete.
- (e) Determination of setting characteristics of concrete.
- (f) Measurement and detection of cracks.
- (g) Measurement of deterioration of concrete due to fire exposure.

(a) Establishing Uniformity of Concrete—For establishing the uniformity of concrete, the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester is an ideal tool for laboratory specimens, whereas the Soniscope provides an excellent means for both laboratory and field studies.

Parker (57), Whitehurst (59), Breuning and Bone (65), and Jones (35, 66) have reported results of very carefully conducted surveys for determining the



FIGURE 26 Field testing of mass concrete with the Soniscope. After Leslie (55).

uniformity of concrete of various types of structures. Usually, if material differences in pulse velocity are found within a structure for no apparent reasons (such as changes in materials, concrete mix or construction procedures), then there is strong reason to presume that some defective or deteriorated concrete is present.

Of many such surveys carried out on existing structures both in Canada and the United States, one that deserves mention is that reported in 1953 by the Hydro-Electric Power Commission of Ontario (57). It was carried out on a dam built in 1914. A total of 50,000 readings were taken, most of them at 1-foot spacing. The pulse velocities measured on the structure ranged from below 5,000 to over 17,000 fps and these values were used, with success, to determine the areas of advanced deterioration. Figure 26 shows field testing of mass concrete with the Soniscope.

(b) Establishing Acceptance Criteria—Generally, high pulse velocity readings in concrete are indicative of concrete of good quality. Leslie and Cheesman (53) have suggested the following pulse velocity ratings for concrete:

Pulse Velocity, fps	General Condition
Above 15,000	Excellent
12,000 to 15,000	Good
10,000 to 12,000	Ouestionable
7.000 to 10.000	Poor
Below 7,000	Very poor

Jones (35) maintains that it is not possible to specify a minimum acceptable pulse velocity which is applicable under all conditions and all types of structures. He gives the following minimum velocities acceptable for specific structural purposes in Great Britain:

Type of work	Minimum value of pulse velocity for acceptance, fps
Suspended Floor Slabs	15.500
Prestressed Concrete T Sections	15,000
Prestressed Concrete Anchor Units	14,300
Reinforced Concrete Frame Buildings	13,500

Whitehurst (48), while discussing the usefulness of the above ratings, states:

It is the author's opinion that all of the generalization made above while satisfactory as generalizations must be used with great caution. It is doubtful that sharp lines of demarcation may be rigorously applied to the categories suggested by Leslie and Cheesman and those suggested by Jones. The degree to which any particular concrete will fall into these categories would depend upon the aggregates in concrete, the mix, the conditions of curing and the exposure subsequent to curing. The investigator is thus advised to acquire all possible information concerning the concrete to be evaluated before attempting to interpret pulse velocity tests.

(c) Determination of Pulse Modulus of Elasticity—Theoretically, the values of the pulse modulus of elasticity calculated from the readings obtained with the Soniscope or the Ultrasonic Concrete Tester should be the same as those obtained with resonant frequency techniques. However, this has not been found to be so.

Dynamic Methods



FIGURE 27. Effect of aggregate/cement ratio on the relationship between pulse velocity ond cube compressive strength. After Jones and Gatfield (33).



FIGURE 28 Effect of type of aggregate on the relationship between pulse velocity and cube compressive strength. After Jones and Gatfield (33).

For this reason and also because the modulus of elasticity depends upon density and Poisson's ratio, most researchers have attempted to use pulse-velocity itself as a criterion of the quality of concrete without attempting to calculate moduli therefrom. If it is desired to compute modulus of elasticity from the pulse velocity, the formulas given in Appendix VI should be used.

(d) Estimation of Strength of Concrete—Various researchers have attempted to correlate compressive and flexural strengths of concrete with pulse velocity. Notable among these are Jones and Gatfield (33), and Kaplan (67, 68).

Jones (35) has shown that reasonably good correlation can be obtained between the cube compressive strength and pulse velocity, provided the aggregates and mix proportions are kept constant. Effects of aggregate-cement ratio and the type of aggregates on the above relationships are shown in Figures 27 and 28. The relationships appear to be independent of the water/cement ratio.

Jones and Gatfield (33) have also illustrated the relationship between the pulse velocity and the flexural strength of concrete. The results, (Figure 29), show that the relations, though independent of the water/cement ratio and the aggregate type, are dependent upon the aggregate-cement ratio.





According to Jones (35), some researchers have established relations between pulse-velocity and compressive strength. These relations enable the strength of structural concrete to be predicted within ± 20 per cent. To obtain this accuracy, allowances must be made for the type of cement, mix-proportions and curing conditions in the structural concrete.

Unit Weight Compres-Water / of Fresh Age of sive** Flexural** Pulse Cement Type of Ratio Cement. Slump, Air. Concrete Test. Strength. Strength, Velocity. by Weight lb/cu yd inches Der cent lb/cu ft davs psi ft /sec Concrete Aggregate psi 480 13/4 5.0 94.3 120 2110 380 11.238 0.72 Coarse: Expanded Shale .. Fine: Expanded Shale 141.5 118 2640 565 15,804 0 72 479 1 1.2 Coarse: Phonolite Fine: Phonolite 14,612 148.0 180 2720 Coarse: Anorthosite 3.1 515 0 71 482 11 Fine: Anorthosite 0.71 471 1 0.7 234.9 95 5960 760 16,077 Coarse: Ilmenite Fine: Ilmenite.....

 Table 2

 Some Typical Values for Pulse Velocity for Concrete made with Different Aggregates*

*After Zoldners, Malhotra and Wilson (70).

**Each result is an average of 15 tests.

Some typical values for pulse velocity for aluminous cement concrete made with different aggregates are given in Table 2. These vary from 11,238 ft/sec for lightweight (expanded shale) concrete to 16,077 ft/sec for heavyweight (ilmenite) concrete. The data in Table 2 clearly bring out the fact that no attempts should be made to predict compressive and/or flexural strength of concrete from pulse velocity values unless similar relations have been previously established for the type of concrete under investigation.

(e) Determination of the Setting Characteristics of Concrete—The determination of the rate of setting of concrete by means of the Soniscope has been reported by Cheesman (56), Whitehurst (64), and other researchers.

Whitehurst has reported results of tests on $4 \times 4 \times 16$ -inch concrete prisms, using various types of cements. The concretes used had zero slump and immediately after casting the end plates of the forms were removed. Pulse velocity tests using the Soniscope were made periodically, from shortly after the specimens were cast until 8 hours or more had elapsed.

Initial velocities of the order of 4,000 fps were observed and during the first few hours the velocities increased at a rapid rate. After a period of time varying from $4\frac{1}{2}$ to $8\frac{1}{2}$ hours, the rate of increase suddenly changed, and continued at a much slower pace. The point at which this occurred was taken as the time of set of concrete.

The results of Whitehurst (64), together with those reported by Cheesman (56), have been reported in Figure 30.

All investigators have reported considerable difficulty in measuring the pulse velocity through concrete at early ages. This perhaps explains the very limited use of pulse velocity techniques in this type of work.

(f) Measurement and Detection of Cracks-This use of pulse velocity tech-



FIGURE 30. Relationship between pulse velocity and setting characteristics of concrete. After Orchard (31).

niques has been described by Leslie and Cheesman (53), Jones (35), and Sturrup (58). The basic principle of crack detection is as follows:

If a crack is of appreciable width and is of considerable depth perpendicular to the test path, the path of the pulse will be blocked and no signal will be received at the receiving transducer. If the depth of the crack is small compared to the distance between the transducers, *i.e.*, the path length, the pulse will pass around the end of the crack and a signal will be received at the transducer. However, in doing so it will have travelled a distance longer than the straight line path upon which the pulse velocity computations are based. The resulting calculated pulse velocity will then be low in comparison with that through uncracked concrete in the same vicinity. The difference in the pulse velocity is then used to estimate the path length and hence the crack depth. It is, of course, assumed that the crack is not filled with water.

This principle has been used by the Hydro-Electric Power Commission of Ontario to determine internal as well as surface cracks (53). According to Sturrup (58), the pulse velocity method differentiates between deep and shallow cracks and will detect internal cracks large enough to cause a significant increase in the transmission time or an abnormal reduction in the pulse amplitude.

Jones (35, 71) has also described in detail studies for crack detections by testing specimens which were being subjected to compressive or tensile stresses.

(g) Measurement of Deterioration of Concrete Due to Fire Exposure—Zoldners, Malhotra and Wilson (70) have used pulse velocity techniques to measure deterioration due to fire exposure in $3\frac{1}{2} \times 4 \times 16$ -inch concrete prism specimens. In their investigation, they had exposed concrete prism specimens to fire exposure for one hour at temperatures ranging from 100 to 1,000°C. After the exposure, the specimens were removed from the furnace and allowed to cool to room temperature. Pulse velocity was then measured using the ultrasonic concrete tester;



FIGURE 31. Loss in pulse velocity and flexural strength of concrete prism specimens after exposure to temperature to 1,000°C. After Zoldners, Malhotra and Wilson (70).

following this the prisms were tested in flexure. Figure 31 shows results of one such investigation. It will be seen that the deterioration in the prism specimens can be determined by measuring the per cent loss in pulse velocity. Furthermore, the per cent loss in pulse velocity followed very closely the per cent loss in flexural strength of test prisms after fire exposure.

Comparison of Pulse and Static Young's Moduli of Elasticity

Published data comparing pulse and static Young's moduli are sparse. The data reported by Philleo (Figure 32) indicate that the pulse modulus was invariably higher than the static modulus. For 6 x 12-inch cylinders, the ratio of the two ranges from 1.54 to 1.10 as the static modulus varies from 3.92 to 5.50 x 10^6 psi; for 6 x 6 x 30-inch beams, the ratio varies from 1.17 to 1.01 as the static modulus increases from 4.52 to 6.03 x 10^6 psi.

Comparison of Pulse and Dynamic Moduli of Elasticity

The comparison between the two moduli has been reported by Leslie and Cheesman (53) and Philleo (28).

In their original work on the development of the Soniscope, Leslie and Cheesman (53) reported an excellent correlation between the pulse and dynamic moduli of elasticity. The reported pulse modulus averaged about 8 per cent higher than the dynamic modulus. This was based on experiments on three hundred $3\frac{1}{2} \times 4 \times 16$ -inch prisms.

Philleo (28), reporting on the work carried out at Portland Cement Association, indicated that the pulse moduli were 1 to 47 per cent higher than the dynamic moduli, averaging 15.4 per cent higher. These results were based on the analysis of



one hundred and seventy 6 x 6 x 30-inch beams and the dynamic encountered ranged from 4.75 to 8.0×10^6 psi.

LIMITS AND USEFULNESS OF PULSE VELOCITY TEST METHODS

Although ultrasonic pulse velocity equipment is available from several commercial sources, the testing procedures have yet to be standardized. The ASTM has recently issued a tentative standard.*

Ultrasonic pulse velocity techniques provide an excellent means for establishing uniformity of concrete and deserve a definite place in quality control operations.

Within the previously outlined limitations, ultrasonic pulse velocity techniques provide the only available means of delineating both surface and internal cracks in concrete structures.

Ultrasonic pulse velocity tests can be carried out both on laboratory-size test specimens and on completed concrete structures. This fact alone enhances the usefulness of these tests in comparison with resonant frequency tests.

Inasmuch as a large number of variables affect the relations between the strength parameters of concrete and its pulse velocity, the use of the latter to predict the compressive and/or flexural strengths of concrete is not recommended.

The equation for the calculation of the pulse modulus of elasticity of concrete involves both its density and its Poisson's ratio. Since the Poisson's ratio of

^{*} ASTM Standard C 597-67T. Test for pulse velocity through concrete.

concrete is seldom known, the use of the pulse modulus is not recommended; instead, the pulse velocity itself should be used as a criterion of the quality of concrete.

RADIOACTIVE METHODS

The use of X-rays and gamma radiography as nondestructive methods for testing some properties of concrete is relatively new. Mullens and Pearson (72) appear to have been the first to employ X-rays for examining concrete to show variations in density and to locate reinforcing bars. The high initial cost and the immobility of the testing equipment in the field were the main limitations of the method.

The first use of gamma radiography appears to have been made by Smith and Whiffin (73) in 1952 and Fackler (74) in 1954. Between 1954 and 1958, Whiffin (75) and Forrester (76, 77) reported an experimental technique to provide a practical method for testing structural concrete and precast products to determine the position and condition of the reinforcement and also the condition of the concrete. More recently, Preiss (78, 79) and Harland (80) have reported work on measurement of concrete density and thickness by gamma ray transmission.

PRINCIPLES OF GAMMA RADIOGRAPHY

The basic principles of gamma radiography are simple. When concrete is placed in the path of radiation emitted from a gamma source, the radiation is partly absorbed, partly scattered, and partly transmitted. Methods have been developed to measure the density of concrete by measuring the absorbed radiation and also by measuring the amount of back-scatter. The radiation that passes through concrete has been used to measure its thickness.

APPLICATIONS OF GAMMA RADIOGRAPHY

A. Measurement of Density by the Absorption of Gamma Rays

The three methods using this approach are described below:

Smith and Whiffin Method

The general arrangement for direct measurement is shown in Figure 33. A modification of this arrangement was used by Smith and Whiffin (73) to measure the variation of density with depth from the surface of a concrete slab compacted by an experimental surface-vibrating machine. Vertical holes of 2-inch diameter were drilled at intervals of 1 foot along the middle of a 4-foot-wide slab, and a source of 130 millicuries of radio-cobalt* was lowered by progressive increments into each hole. Geiger-Müller counters were located at the same height as the source on each vertical face of the slab. To achieve narrow beam conditions, *i.e.*, to record only the radiation coming directly from the source, the Geiger-Müller

^{*200} milligrams of radium=130 millicuries of radio-cobalt with regard to gamma ray emission. The radioactive source was machined as an approximate cylinder, 14 mm long by 14 mm diameter, enclosed in a thin-walled cylindrical brass housing.

Adjustable Brass Rod Brass Radioactive Sleeve Source Lead Sheath to canalise Gamma Rays Concernation Concernatio Concernat

FIGURE 33. General arrangement for measuring density of concrete by means of gamma rays. After Smith and Whiffin (73).

counters were housed in a heavy lead sheath. This sheath was provided with an aperture of 1-inch diameter and 6-inch length, through which the direct radiation could pass.

Calibration of the equipment was effected by drilling cores in the path of the radiation at each location tested and cutting these with a diamond saw into cylindrical sections of known volume, each section being weighed in an oven-dry condition.

Preiss Method

The general arrangement for this method is given in Figure 34. This method has been used to measure the density of concrete of given thickness, or the thickness of concrete of given density.

The gamma radiation source in this method is 5 millicuries of caesium 137 in a lead shield. The radiation passes through a collimating hole in the shield, penetrates the concrete, and is detected by a scintillation counter. The collimating hole in the lead shield is designed so that the radiation beam shines on a



FIGURE 34. Experimental arrangement for measuring the thickness of concrete by gamma rays. After Preiss (79).

limited area of the detector. When taking a reading the detecting device is moved to and fro until a maximum count rate reading is obtained. This count rate is recorded and the density or thickness of concrete is then calculated using the equipment calibration charts.

It is claimed that the amount of scattered radiation detected is not sufficient to upset the method. An accuracy of better than 2 per cent has been claimed for this method in the determination of thickness of slabs that were approximately 4 feet thick.

Harland Method

A general view of the apparatus used in this method is given in Figure 35. This method has been used to measure variations in density in concrete cores,



FIGURE 35 A general view of apparatus for measuring variation in density in concrete cores. After Harland (80).

cubes and beams. The variation of density is determined by measuring the change in absorption of gamma radiation (80).

The gamma radiation source is 1 millicurie of caesium 137. The source is sealed in a capsule enclosed by a steel tube which is pushed to the centre of a $5\frac{1}{3}$ -inch diameter lead sphere and held securely in position. The lead sphere is supported in such a way that the length of core that may be tested is just under $13\frac{1}{2}$ inches. A scintillation counter acts as a gamma-ray detector. This is connected to a rate meter and chart-recorder which continuously display the intensity of radiation transmitted as the sample traverses along its depth dimension through the gamma beam. The variation in the intensity of the transmitted radiation is translated into density variations by a suitable calculation.

It is claimed that the equipment measures density gradients with a standard deviation of about 1 lb/ft³.

B. Back-Scatter Method for Determining the Density of Surface Layers of Concrete

An arrangement for the back-scatter method for determining the density of surface layers of concrete is given in Figure 36. Here both the gamma-ray source and the Geiger-Müller counter are close together in a device which is placed on the surface of the concrete under test. In this system the gamma rays propagate through the concrete at an angle to the surface, and the intensity of radiation returning to the surface at a fixed lateral distance from the source is measured.



FIGURE 36. Back-scatter method for measuring the density of surface layers of concrete.

This method was originally proposed in the United States as a means of obtaining the density of surface layers of soil (81), and several countries are now using similar techniques to test soil and concrete.

A major disadvantage of this arrangement is that it only measures the density of concrete near the surface; however, a weaker source of radiation can normally be applied than with the direct method.

C. Gamma Radiography for Determining Position and Condition of Reinforcement

The use of gamma radiography to determine position and condition of reinforcement has been reported by Whiffin (75) and Forrester (76). A typical arrangement used by Forrester is given in Figure 37, and the details of the experiment are as follows:

A 170-millicuries source of Cobalt-60 is placed about 18 inches from the front face of concrete member under test and a standard X-ray film is held against the back face. The film is sandwiched between thin lead screens (0.01 inch thick) and these help to intensify the photographic image produced on the film. The gamma radiation passing through the reinforcement is more heavily absorbed than the radiation passing through the concrete so that, on the processed radiograph, the reinforcement is denoted by the lower density parts of the photographic image.

Forrester (77) has also used the gamma-radiography technique to locate cracks, voids, faulty grouting and honeycombed areas in concrete. Voids or honey-



FIGURE 37. A precast concrete structural unit being subjected to gamma radiography. The radioactive source can be seen on the left. After Forrester (77).

combing in the concrete appears as dark patches on the radiograph, and cracks appear as dark lines.

LIMITS AND USEFULNESS OF RADIOACTIVE TEST METHODS

The radioactive methods are still in the development stage. The equipment is relatively expensive and is not commercially available for concrete testing, and test methods have yet to be standardized. Even with the highly penetrative gamma rays, the maximum thickness of concrete which can be penetrated is between 2 and 4 feet. This fact alone limits the usefulness of these methods.

CONCLUSIONS

1. Rapid advances have been made in the art of nondestructive testing of concrete. Apart from the radioactive methods, a large measure of standardization has been achieved in these tests.

2. The nondestructive methods of testing concrete must not be considered as a replacement for the standard destructive tests, but only as additional techniques. When performed by skilled technicians and the results evaluated by experienced engineers, the nondestructive tests do provide a storehouse of information which otherwise cannot be obtained. When carried out in conjunction with standard tests, they can reduce the cost of testing.

3. The various nondestructive methods of testing concrete provide an excellent means for establishing and evaluating uniformity of concrete, and their use in this aspect of concrete quality control is recommended.

4. Unless laboratory correlations have been established between the strength

ę

parameters to be predicted and the results of nondestructive tests, the use of the latter to predict compressive or flexural strength of concrete is strongly discouraged.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Grateful acknowledgment is made to the various authors and research workers whose data have been used in compiling some of the sections of this monograph. Acknowledgment is also made to Mr. F. E. Hanes of the Mineral Processing Division of the Mines Branch for taking many of the photographs that were used.

Ø

.

REFERENCES

- 1. Williams, J. F.: A Method for the Estimation of Compressive Strength of Concrete in the Field. *Structural Engi.*, July 1936, pp. 321-326.
- 2. Gaede, R.: Die Kugelschlagprüfung von Beton. Deutscher Ausschuss für Stahlbeton, No. 107, 1952, pp. 15-30.
- 3. Réunion Internationale des Laboratoires d'Essais sur les Matériaux et les Constructions (RILEM). International Symposium on Non-Destructive Testing of Materials and Structures, Paris, France, Vol. 2, 1954. Other contributions dealing with hardness tests and published in this symposium volume are listed below: Vassitch, P.: Outline of the Various Possibilities of Non-Destructive Mechanical Tests on Concretes: New Proposals of the Author. Paper No. B-1, pp. 301-306. Gaede, R.: Report on the Ball Test. Paper No. B-2, pp. 307-309. Schmidt, E.: The Concrete Sclerometer. Paper No. B-3, pp. 310-319. Weil, G.: Ball Test. Paper No. B-4, pp. 320-321. SA, P.: Non-Destructive Testing of Concrete Paper No. B-5, p. 332. Voellmy, A.: Examination of Concrete by Measurement of Superficial Hardness. Paper No. B-6, pp. 323-336. Dawance, G., and Jeytic, D.: Use of Sclerometer for the Determination of the Compressive Strength of Concrete. Paper No. B-7, pp. 337-340. Peltier, R.: Tests Performed on a Sclerometer at the Central Laboratory of Ponts et Chaussées in Paris. Paper No. B-8, pp. 341-346. Meynier: Note on the Sclerometer Used in a Laboratory of L'Électricité de France. Paper No. B-9, pp. 347-350. 4. Shore, A. T.: Property of Hardness in Metals and Materials. Proceedings, American Society for Testing Materials (ASTM), Vol. XI, 1911, pp. 733-739.
- 5. Schmidt, Ernst: Der Beton-Prüfhammer. Schweiz Bauzeitung, Vol. 68, No. 28, July 15, 1950.
- Schmidt, Ernst: Versuche mit dem neuen Beton-Pr
 üfhammer zur Qualit
 ätsbestimmung des Beton. Schweizer Archiv f
 ür angewandte Wissenschaft und Technik, Vol. 17, No. 5, 1951, pp. 139-143, Druck und Verlag; Buchdruckerei Vogt-Schild A. G., Solothurn.
- 7. Herzig, E.: Versuche mit dem neuen Beton-Prüfhammer, Schweizer Archiv für angewandte Wissenschaft und Technik, Vol. 17, No. 5, 1951, pp. 144-146, Druck und Verlag; Buchdruckerei Vogt-Schild A. G., Solothurn.
- 8. Kolek, J.: An Appreciation of the Schmidt Rebound Hammer. Magazine of Concrete Research, Vol. 10, No. 28, March 1958, pp. 27-36.
- 9. Malhotra, V. M.: Non-Destructive Testing of Concrete—Part I. Cement and Concrete (New Delhi), Vol. 5, No. 1, April-June, 1964, pp. 22-23.
- 10. Zoldners, N. G.: Calibration and Use of Impact Test Hammer. American Concrete Institute (ACI) Proceedings, Vol. 54, August 1957, pp. 161-165.
- 11. Greene, Gordon W.: Test Hammer Provides New Method of Evaluating Hardened Concrete. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 51, November 1954, pp. 249-256.
- 12. Mitchell, L. J., and Hoagland, G. G.: Investigation of the Impact-Type Concrete Test Hammer. Bulletin No. 305, Highway Research Board, 1961, pp. 14-27.
- 13. Grieb, William E.: Use of Swiss Hammer for Establishing the Compressive Strength of Hardened Concrete. *Public Roads*, Vol. 30, No. 2, June 1958, pp. 45-50.
- 14. Williams, C. H.: Investigation of the Schmidt Concrete Test Hammer. U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Miscellaneous Paper No. 6-267, June 1958, 11 pp.
- 15. Discussion of Reference 11 by Klieger and others. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 51, December 1955, pp. 256-1 to 256-20.

- 16. Petersen, Perry H., and Stoll, Ulrich W.: Relation of Rebound-Hammer Test Results to Sonic Modulus and Compressive Strength Data. *Proceedings*, Highway Research Board. Vol. 34, 1955, pp. 387-392.
- 17. Discussion of Reference 16 by Paul Klieger. Proceedings, Highway Research Board, Vol. 34, 1955, pp. 392-399.
- 18. Victor, D. J.: Evaluation of Hardened Field Concrete with Rebound Hammer. Indian Concrete Journal, Vol. 37, No. 11, November 1963, pp. 407-411.
- 19. Boundy, C. A. P., and Hondros, G.: Rapid Field Assessment of Strength of Concrete by Accelerated Curing and Schmidt Rebound Hammer. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 61, No. 1, January 1964, pp. 11-84; Discussion, ACI Proceedings, Vol. 61, No. 9, September 1964, pp. 1185-1190.
- 20. Rayleigh, J. W.: Theory of Sound. Dover Press, New York, N.Y., 2nd Ed. (1945).
- 21. Powers, T. C.: Measuring Young's Modulus of Elasticity by Means of Sonic Vibrations. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 38, Part II, 1938, pp. 460-467.
- 22. Hornibrook, F. B.: Application of Sonic Method to Freezing and Thawing Studies of Concrete. ASTM Bulletin No. 101, December 1939, pp. 5-8.
- 23. Thompson, W. T.: Measuring Changes in Physical Properties of Concrete by the Dynamic Method. *Proceedings, ASTM,* Vol. 40, 1940, pp. 1113-1121. Discussion by Willis, T. F., and de Reus, M. E., pp. 1123-1129.
- 24. Obert, L., and Duvall, W. I.: Discussion of Dynamic Methods of Testing Concrete with Suggestions for Standardization. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 41, 1941, pp. 1053-1070.
- 25. Stanton, T. E.: Tests Comparing the Modulus of Elasticity of Portland Cement Concrete as Determined by the Dynamic (Sonic) and Compression (secant at 1000 psi) Methods. ASTM Bulletin No. 131, December 1944, pp. 17-20; Discussion by Witte, L. P., and Price W. H., pp. 20-22.
- 26. Standard Method of Test for Fundamental Transverse, Longitudinal and Torsional Frequencies of Concrete Specimens. ASTM Standard C 215-60, 1965 ASTM Book of Standards, Part 10, pp. 143-147.
- 27. British Standards Institution. Methods of Testing Concrete, B.S. 1881: 1952, 61 pp.
- 28. Philleo, R. E.: Comparison of Results of Three Methods for Determining Young's Modulus of Elasticity of Concrete. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 51, January 1955, pp. 461-469.
- 29. Pickett, G.: Equations for Computing Elastic Constants from Flexural and Torsional Resonant Frequencies of Vibration of Prisms and Cylinders. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 45, 1945, pp. 846-863.
- Spinner, S., and Tefft, W. E.: A Method for Determining Mechanical Resonance Frequencies and for Calculating Moduli from these Frequencies. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 61, 1961, pp. 1221-1238.
- Orchard, D. F.: Concrete Technology-Vol. 2: Practice. John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York, 1962, pp. 181-215.
- 32. Kesler, C. E. and Higuchi, Y.: Problems in the Sonic Testing of Plain Concrete. RILEM International Symposium on Non-Destructive Testing of Materials and Structures, Paris, France. Vol. 1, 1954.

Other contributions dealing with sonic tests and published in this symposium volume are listed below:

Cabarat, R.: Measurement of Elastic Constants by an Acoustical Procedure. Paper No. A-1, pp. 9-17.

Stutterheim, N., Lochner, J. P. A., and Burger, J. F.: A Method for Determining the Dynamic Young's Modulus of Concrete Specimens Developed for Corrosion Studies. Paper No. A-2, pp. 18-33.

Takabayashi, T.: Comparison of Dynamic Young's Modulus and Static Modulus for Concrete. Paper No. A-3, pp. 34-44.

Arredi, F.: Non-Destructive Tests on Concrete Specimens Performed in the Hydraulic Structures Laboratory of the Engineering Faculty of Rome. Paper No. A-5, pp. 55-60. Takano, S.: Determination of Concrete Strength by a Non-Destructive Method. Paper No. A-7, pp. 61-68.

Higuchi, Y.: Studies Presented by the Author. Paper No. A-8, pp. 69-70.

Fujita, K. I.: Non-Destructive Method for Concrete. Paper No. A-9, pp. 71-73.

Ban, S.: Activity of the Committee on Non-Destructive Concrete Inspection of the JSTM. Paper No. A-10, p. 74.

Kilian, G.: Evolution of the Mechanical and Elastic Properties of Concretes as a Function of Age, the Proportion of Binder and the Nature of the Aggregates. Paper No. A-11, pp. 75-79.

Report by Lazard. Paper No. A-12, pp. 80-88.

Daxelhofer, J. P.: Concrete Anisotropy Brought Out by the Measurement of the Dynamic Modulus. Paper No. A-13, pp. 89-97.

Daxelhofer, J. P.: Remarks on the Use of Sonic Methods for Investigating the Liability to Frost Damage of Concretes at the Materials Testing Laboratory of the Lausanne Polytechnical School. Paper No. A-13, pp. 98-105.

Daxelhofer, J. P.: Note on the Static and Dynamic Moduli of a Concrete. Paper No. A-13, pp. 106-107.

Daxelhofer, J. P.: Note on the Variation of the Dynamic Modulus as a Function of the Water Content of a Lightweight Concrete. Paper No. A-13, pp. 108-110.

Elvery, R. H.: Symposium on the Non-Destructive Testing of Concrete. Paper No. A-15, pp. 111-119.

Beauzee, C.: Errors of Measurement in the Determination of the Modulus of Elasticity by the Sonic Method. Paper No. A-16, pp. 120-136.

Jones, R.: The Testing of Concrete by an Ultrasonic Pulse Technique. Paper No. A-17, pp. 137-165.

Chefdeville, J.: The Qualitative Control. Paper No. A-18, pp. 166-178.

Andersen, J.: Apparatus for Determination of Sound Velocity in Concrete and Execution of the Measurements. Paper No. A-19A, pp. 179-183.

Nerenst, P.: Speed of Propagation in Concrete Determined by a Condensing Chronograph. Paper No. A-19B, pp. 184-199.

Nerenst, P.: Wave Velocity as Influenced by Curing Conditions and Age. Paper No. A-19C, pp. 200-204.

Andersen, J.: The Use of Sound-Velocity Measurements for Practical Tests of Concrete. Paper No. A-19D, pp. 205-208.

Kameda, Y., Awaya, K., and Yokoyama, I.: The Non-Destructive Testing of Concrete. Paper No. A-20, pp. 209-215.

Voellmy, A.: Vibration Testing of Concrete in Structures in Switzerland. Paper No. A-21, pp. 216-218.

Magnel, G., and Huyghe, G.: Determination of the Strength of a Concrete by a Non-Destructive Process. Paper No. A-22, pp. 219-247.

Four Reports presented by Okushima, M., and Kosaka, Y.: Paper No. A-23, pp. 248-252. Borges, Ferry: Some Uses of Ultrasounds at the Laboratorio Nacional De Engenharia Civil. Paper No. A-24, pp. 253-258.

Mamillan, M.: The Use of Sonic Methods for the Study of Freestones. Paper No. A-25, pp. 259-274.

Dawance, G.: Application of the Vibration Test to the Study of Rocks and Rock Masses. Paper No. A-26, pp. 275-276.

Anon.: Non-Destructive Testing of Bituminous Concrete. Relationship Between the Speed of Sound Propagation and the Temperature of the Concrete. Paper No. A-27, pp. 277-281.

Moles, A.: A Geoseismic Apparatus for Investigating the Compactness of Soils. Paper No. A-28, pp. 282-284.

- 33. Jones, R., and Gatfield, E. N.: Testing Concrete by an Ultrasonic Pulse Technique. DSIR Road Research Technical Paper No. 34, London, (H.M. Stationery Office).
- 34. Jones, R.: The Effect of Frequency on the Dynamic Modulus and Damping Coefficient of Concrete. *Magazine of Concrete Research*, Vol. 9, No. 26, August 1957, pp. 69-72.
- 35. Jones, R.: Non-Destructive Testing of Concrete. Cambridge University Press (London), 1962.
- 36. Kesler, C. E., and Higuchi, Yoshiro: Determination of Compressive Strength of Concrete by Using its Sonic Properties. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 53, 1953, pp. 1044-1051.

- 37. Long, B. G., and Kurtz, H. J.: Effect of Curing Methods on the Durability of Concrete as Measured by Changes in the Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 43, 1943, pp. 1051-1065.
- Axon, E. O., Willis, T. F., and Reagel, F. V.: Effect of Air-Entrapping Portland Cement on the Resistance to Freezing and Thawing of Concrete Containing Inferior Coarse Aggregate. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 43, 1943, pp. 981-994. Discussion by Wuerpel, C. E. pp. 995-1000.
- 39. Long, B. G., Kurtz, H. J., and Sandenaw, T. A.: An Instrument and a Technique for Field Determination of the Modulus of Elasticity and Flexural Strength of Concrete (Pavements). ACI Proceedings, Vol. 16, January 1945, pp. 217-232.
- 40. Sweet, H. S.: Research on Concrete Durability as Affected by Coarse Aggregate. Proceedings, ASTM, Vol. 48, 1948, pp. 988-1016.
- 41. Chefdeville, J.: Vibration Testing of Concrete. Part 2—Application of the Method Toward Estimating the Quality of Concrete. RILEM Bulletin No. 15, Part 2, 1953, pp. 61-77.
- 42. L'Hermite, R.: The Strength of Concrete and its Measurement. *Annales*, L'Institut Technique du Bâtiment et des Travaux Publics (Paris), No. 12, January 1950, pp. 3-12.
- 43. Shrivastava, J. P., and Sen, B.: Factors Affecting Resonant Frequency and Compressive Strength of Concrete. *Indian Concrete Journal*, Vol. 37, No. 1, January 1963, pp. 27-31; Vol. 37, No. 3, March 1963, pp. 105-110.
- 44. Sharma, M. R., and Gupta, B. L.: Sonic Modulus as Related to Strength and Static Modulus of High Strength Concrete. *Indian Concrete Journal*, Vol. 34, No. 4, April 1960, pp. 139-141.
- 45. Kaplan, M. F.: Effect of Incomplete Consolidation on Compressive and Flexural Strength, Ultrasonic Pulse Velocity and Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity of Concrete. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 56, March 1960, pp. 853-867.
- 46. Kaplan, M. F.: Ultrasonic Pulse Velocity, Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity, Poisson's Ratio and the Strength of Concrete Made with Thirteen Different Coarse Aggregates. RILEM Bulletin No. 1, March 1959, pp. 58-73.
- 47. Batchelder, G. M., and Lewis, D. W.: Comparison of Dynamic Methods of Testing Concretes Subjected to Freezing and Thawing. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 53, 1963, pp. 1053-1065.
- 48. Whitehurst, E. A.: Evaluation of Concrete Properties from Sonic Tests. American Concrete Institute, Monograph No. 2, Detroit (1966), 94 pp.
- 49. Klieger, Paul: Long-Time Study of Cement Performance in Concrete—Progress Report on Strength and Elastic Properties of Concrete. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 54, December 1957, pp. 481-504.
- 50. Mitchell, L. J.: Dynamic Testing of Materials. *Proceedings*, Highway Research Board, Vol. 33, 1954, pp. 242-258.
- 51. Andersen, J., and Nerenst, P.: Wave Velocity in Concrete. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 48, April 1952, pp. 613-630.
- 52. Chefdeville, J., and Dawance, G.: Auscultation Dynamique du Béton (Dynamic Sounding of Concrete). Annales. L'Institut Technique du Bâtiment et des Travaux Publics (Paris), No. 140, July-August 1950, pp. 1-19.
- 53. Leslie, J. R., and Cheesman, W. J.: An Ultrasonic Method of Studying Deterioration and Cracking in Concrete Structures. *ACI Proceedings*, Vol. 46, September 1949, pp. 17-36.
- 54. Jones, R.: The Non-Destructive Testing of Concrete. Magazine of Concrete Research (London), Vol. 2, No. 1, June 1949, p. 67.
- 55. Leslie, J. R.: Pulse Techniques Applied to Dynamic Testing. Proceedings, ASTM, Vol. 50, 1950, pp. 1314-1323.
- 56. Cheesman, W. J.: Dynamic Testing of Concrete with the Soniscope Apparatus, Proceedings, Highway Research Board, Vol. 29, 1949, pp. 176-183.
- 57. Parker, W. E.: Pulse Velocity Testing of Concrete. Proceedings, ASTM, Vol. 53, 1953, pp. 1033-1042.
- 58. Sturrup, V. R.: Evaluation of Pulse Velocity Tests Made by Ontario Hydro. Bulletin No. 206, Highway Research Board, 1959, pp. 42-45.

54

Other contributions dealing with pulse velocity tests and reported in this bulletin are:

Woods, K. B., and McLaughlin, J. F.: Application of Pulse Velocity Tests to Several Laboratory Studies of Materials. pp. 14-27.

Meyer, Richard C.: Eight Years of Pulse Velocity Tests on Concrete Pavements in Kansas. pp. 29-31.

Bullock, R. E., and Whitehurst, E. A.: Effect of Certain Variables on Pulse Velocities Through Concrete. pp. 37-41.

Mather, Bryant, et al.: Use of the Soniscope by Concrete Division. U.S. Army Waterways Experiment Station. pp. 42-45.

Laverty, B. R., and Spencer, R. W.: Appraising the Quality and Performance of Concrete by Pulse Velocity Measurements. pp. 46-56.

Whitehurst, E. A.: Effect of Variations in Mix Design or Curing Conditions on a Pulse Velocity-Strength Relationship. pp. 57-63.

Oleson, Calvin C.: Evaluation of Pulse Velocity Tests Made with Portland Cement Association Soniscope. pp. 64-69.

Bawa, K. S.: General Discussion of the Symposium. pp. 70-71.

Whitehurst, E. A., Oleson, C. C., and Valore, R. C., Jr.: Symposium Summary. p. 72.

- 59. Whitehurst, E. A.: Soniscope Tests for Concrete Structures. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 47, February 1951, pp. 433-444.
- 60. Whitehurst, E. A.: Pulse-Velocity Techniques and Equipment for Testing Concrete. Proceedings, Highway Research Board, Vol. 33, 1954, pp. 226-242.
- 61. Meyer, R. C.: Dynamic Testing of Concrete Pavements with the Soniscope. *Proceedings*, Highway Research Board, Vol. 31, 1952, pp. 234-245.
- 62. Mather, Bryant: Comparative Tests of Soniscope. *Proceedings*, Highway Research Board, Vol. 33, 1954, pp. 217-226.
- 63. Whitehurst, E. A.: Dynamic Testing of Concrete Evaluated. *Civil Engineering*, Vol. 12, December 1957, pp. 863-865.
- 64. Whitehurst, E. A.: Use of Soniscope for Measuring Setting Time of Concrete. Proceedings ASTM, Vol. 51, 1951, pp. 1166-1175.
- 65. Breuning, Siegfried M., and Bone, A. J.: Soniscope Applied to Maintenance of Concrete Structures. *Proceedings*, Highway Research Board, Vol. 33, 1954, pp. 210-216.
- 66. Jones, R.: Testing of Concrete by Ultrasonic Pulse Technique. *Proceedings*, Highway Research Board, Vol. 32, 1953, pp. 258-275.
- 67. Kaplan, M. F.: Compressive Strength and Ultrasonic Pulse Velocity Relationship for Concrete in Columns. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 54, February 1958, pp. 675-688.
- 68. Kaplan, M. F.: The Effects of Age and Water/Cement Ratio upon the Relation Between Ultrasonic Pulse Velocity and Compressive Strength of Concrete. *Magazine of Concrete Research*, Vol. 11, No. 32, July 1959, pp. 85-92.
- 69. Whitehurst, E. A.: Dynamic Tests. ASTM Special Technical Publication (STP) 169-A, 1966, pp. 176-188.
- Zoldners, N. G., Malhotra, V. M., and Wilson, H. S.: High-Temperature Behaviour of Aluminous Cement Concretes Containing Different Aggregates. *Proceedings, ASTM*, Vol. 63, 1963, pp. 966-995.
- 71. Jones, R.: A Method of Studying the Formation of Cracks in a Material Subjected to Stress, Bri. J. Appl. Phys., Vol. 3, No. 7, July 1952, pp. 229-232.
- 72. Mullins, L., and Pearson, H. M.: The X-ray Examination of Concrete. *Civil Engineering and Public Works Review*, Vol. 44, No. 515, May 1949, pp. 256-258.
- 73. Smith, E. E., and Whiffin, A. C.: Density Measurement of Concrete Slabs Using Gamma Radiation. *The Engineer*, Vol. 194, August 29, 1952, pp. 278-281.
- Fackler, J. P.: Gamma Ray Tests of Concrete. RILEM International Symposium on Non-Destructive Testing of Materials and Structures, Paris, France. Vol. 1, 1954, pp. 375-395.

Other contributions dealing with radioactive tests and published in this symposium volume are listed below:

Brocard J. "Application of Radioisotopes to Non-Destructive Testing of Materials", Paper No. C-1, pp. 359-368. Jacquesson, J. "Note on the Influence of the Distance Source Detector in the Use of

Jacquesson, J. "Note on the Influence of the Distance Source Detector in the Use of Gamma Radiation for Measuring Densities of Soils", Paper No. C-2, pp. 369-374. Huyghes, "A Few Measurements Results", Paper No. C-4, p. 396.

- 75. Whiffin, A. C.: Locating Steel Reinforcing Bars in Concrete Slab. The Engineer, Vol. 197, June 18, 1954, pp. 887-888.
- 76. Forrester, J. A.: Application of Gamma Radiography to Concrete. The Engineer, Vol. 205, No. 5327, February 28, 1958, pp. 314-315.
- 77. Forrester, J. A.: The Use of Gamma Radiography to Detect Faults in Grouting. Magazine of Concrete Research, Vol. 11, No. 32, July 1959, pp. 93-96.
- 78. Preiss, K.: Measuring Concrete Density by Gamma Ray Transmission. ASTM Materials Research and Standards, Vol. 5, No. 6, June 1965, pp. 289-291.
- 79. Preiss, K.: Measuring the Thickness of a Concrete Slab by Gamma Ray Transmission. ACI Proceedings, Vol. 63, July 1966, pp. 743-748.
- 80. Harland, D. G.: A Radioactive Method for Measuring Variations in Density in Concrete Cores, Cubes and Beams. *Magazine of Concrete Research*, Vol. 18, No. 55, June 1966, pp. 95-101.
- 81. d/M-Gauge System. Information Bulletin C 114-60, Soil Test Incorporated, Chicago, Ill.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX I

MAIN FEATURES OF INDENTATION TEST HAMMERS*

Turun at	Frank Spring Hammer		Einbeck Pendulum Hammer	
Impact	Full	Half	Full	Half
Work performed during impact (kg/cm)	50 Plunger	12.5 Movement	137 Angle o	68.5 f Swing
Type of impact Drop (cm) Diameter of test ball (mm) Range of indentation (mm)	5 cm 4_7	2.5 cm 	180 degrees 70 2 7–14	90 degrees 35 5 7–14

*After Gaede (2).

APPENDIX 2

CALCULATION OF MODULUS OF ELASTICITY AND POISSON'S RATIO

(a) According to ASTM Designation C 215-60, the transverse or flexural dynamic modulus of elasticity may be calculated as follows:

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{R}} = \mathbf{C} \mathbf{W} \mathbf{n}^2 \qquad \dots \dots \dots (\mathbf{Eq} 1)$$

where E_{R} = dynamic modulus of elasticity, psi

W = weight of specimen, pounds

- n = fundamental transverse frequency, cps L³T
- C = $0.00416 \frac{L^{3}T}{d^{4}}$, sec² per sq. inch (for a cylinder) L³T

$$= 0.00245 - \frac{1}{bt^3}$$
, sec² per sq. inch (for a prism)

L = length of specimen, inches

d = diameter of cylinder, inches

t,b = dimensions of cross-section of prism, inches

t being in the direction in which it is driven; and

- $T^* = a$ correction factor which depends on the ratio of the radius of gyration
 - K' to the length of the specimen L, and on the Poisson's ratio. K' = d/4 for a cylinder

= t/3.464 for a prism

(b) According to ASTM Designation C 215-60, the longitudinal dynamic modulus of elasticity may be calculated as follows:

$$E_R = D W(n')^2$$
 (Eq 2)

where $E_R = dynamic modulus of elasticity, psi$

W = weight of specimen, pounds

n' = fundamental longitudinal frequency, cps

$$D = 0.01318 -$$
, sec² per sq. inch (for a cylinder)
 d^2

=
$$0.01035 \frac{L}{-}$$
, sec² per sq. inch (for a prism)

L = length of specimen, inches

d = diameter of cylinder, inches; and

t,b = dimensions of cross-section of prism, inches

^{*}Values of T for Poisson's ratio of $\frac{1}{6}$ are given in Table 1, ASTM Designation C 215-60. However, the value of En is only slightly affected by Poisson's ratio; a change in the ratio from $\frac{1}{6}$ to $\frac{1}{4}$ increases the computed value of En by less than 2 per cent.

(c) According to ASTM Designation C 215-60, the dynamic modulus of rigidity may be calculated as follows:

$$G_R = B W (n'')^2$$
 (Eq 3)

where $G_{R} = dynamic modulus of rigidity, psi$

- W = weight of specimen, pounds
- n'' = fundamental torsional frequency, cps 4 LR
- $B = ----, \sec^2 per sq.$ inch

L =length of specimen, inch

- R (a shape factor) = 1.0 for circular cylinder
 - = 1.183 for a square cross-section prism a/b + b/a
 - $\frac{1}{4 a/b 2.52 (a/b)^2 + 0.21 (a/b)^6}$

for a rectangular prism whose cross-sectional dimensions are a and b in., with a less than b

- g = gravitational acceleration (386.4 inches per sec); and
- A = cross-sectional area of test specimen, sq. inches

(d) Poisson's ratio of small, regular-shaped specimens can be found by the resonance method from the formula:

$$\mu = \frac{E_{R}}{2G_{R} - 1}$$
 (Eq 4)

where μ

 μ = dynamic Poisson's ratio, and

 E_R and G_R = dynamic moduli of elasticity and rigidity, respectively.

APPENDIX 3

COMPUTATIONS FOR RELATIVE DYNAMIC MODULUS OF ELASTICITY AND DURABILITY FACTOR

Relative Dynamic Modulus of Elasticity: According to ASTM Designation C 291-61T, the relative dynamic modulus of elasticity may be calculated as follows:

$$P_{c} = \frac{n_{2}^{2}}{n_{1}^{2}} \times 100 \qquad \dots \dots (Eq 5)$$

where P_c = relative dynamic modulus of elasticity, per cent, after C cycles of freezing and thawing;

 n_1 = fundamental transverse frequency at 0 cycles of freezing and thawing; and n_2 = fundamental transverse frequency after c cycles of freezing and thawing.

Durability Factor: According to ASTM Designation C 291-61T, the relative dynamic modulus of elasticity may be calculated as follows:

$$DF = \frac{PN}{M} \qquad \dots \dots (Eq.6)$$

where DF = durability factor of the test specimen;

P = relative dynamic modulus of elasticity at N cycles, per cent;

N = number of cycles at which P reaches the specified minimum value (60 per cent) for discontinuing the test, or the specified number of cycles at which the exposure is to be terminated, *whichever is least*; and

M = specified number of cycles at which the exposure is to be terminated.

APPENDIX 4

CORRELATIONS BETWEEN DYNAMIC MODULUS OF **ELASTICITY AND STRENGTH PROPERTIES OF CONCRETE**

1. Flexural Strength

Method of Long, Kurtz and Sandenaw (39)

	$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{A}_1 + \mathbf{B}_1 \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{R}} + \mathbf{C}_1 \mathbf{E}^2_{\mathbf{R}}$	(Eq 7)
where F	= flexural strength, psi	
$E_{\mathbf{R}}$	= dynamic modulus of elasticity, $psi \times 10$	⁶ ; and
A_1, B_1	and C_1 = constants with values of 29.3, 76.9 and	6.9 respectively.

Method of Sweet (40)

$$F = A_2 + B_2 E_R$$
 (Eq 8)

where F and E_R are the same as in Equation 7, and A and B are constants with values of -335 and 180 respectively.

Method of Chefdeville (41)

For concrete at least 28 days old:

$$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{R}} = \mathbf{K}_1 \sqrt{\mathbf{F}} \qquad \dots \dots (\mathbf{Eq} \ 9)$$

For concrete at earlier ages:

$$E_{\rm R} = \frac{K_2}{1-\mu} \sqrt{F}$$
 (Eq 10)

where E_R and F are the same as in Equation 7 but in Kg/cm²;

 μ = dynamic Poisson's ratio; and

 K_1 and K_2 are constants and have different values for different concretes and aggregates.

2. Compressive Strength

$$E_{R} = K_{3} \sqrt{f_{c}}$$
 (Eq 11)

Method of Chefdeville (41)

For concretes at least 28 days old:	
$E_{\rm R} = K_4 f_{\rm c}^{\frac{1}{3}}$	(Eg 12)
For concretes at early ages.	(-1)

For concretes at early ages:

$$E_{R} = \frac{K_{5} f_{c}^{\frac{1}{3}}}{(1-\mu)} \qquad \dots \dots (Eq 13)$$

63
Nondestructive Methods for Testing Concrete

In these equations,

 E_R = dynamic modulus of elasticity, kg/cm²

 f_c = cube compressive strength, kg/cm²

 μ = dynamic Poisson's ratio; and

 K_3 , K_4 and K_5 are constants.

Method of Sharma and Gupta (44)

$$E_{\rm R} = 8.67 \times 10^6 \frac{f'_{\rm c}}{f'_{\rm c} + 1550}$$

..... (Eq 14)

where $E_R = dynamic modulus of elasticity, psi$

 f'_c = cylinder compressive strength, psi

APPENDIX 5

LOGARITHMIC DECREMENT AND DAMPING CONSTANT

Logarithmic Decrement. Jones (35) has defined the logarithmic decrement as the ratio between the amplitudes of successive oscillations in the damped sine wave produced by the decay of free vibrations of a specimen, and it is given by the following equation:

$$\delta = \ln \frac{h_1}{h_2} \qquad \dots \dots (Eq \ 15)$$

where δ

= logarithmic decrement, and

 h_1 and h_2 = amplitudes of two successive vibrations after the driving force has been removed from the specimen.

The amplitudes h_1 and h_2 can be obtained by recording on a moving film strip the decay of vibrations from resonance after the driving oscillator is turned off. A cathoderay oscilloscope is used as an indicator. The amplitudes h_1 and h_2 can easily be measured off the film once it has been developed.

Damping Constant. The damping constant is given by the equation:

$$Q = \frac{f_0}{f_2 - f_1}$$
 (Eq 16)

where Q = damping constant;

 f_0 = resonant frequency of vibration; and

 f_1, f_2 = frequencies on either side of resonance at which the amplitude is 0.707 times the amplitude at resonance.

The values of f_1 and f_2 can easily be determined if an output meter is employed for resonance indication. After locating the fundamental resonance, the oscillator is de-tuned on each side of the resonance frequency until the output meter reads 0.707 times the reading at resonance. The frequencies at which this occurs are the frequencies f_1 and f_2 (35).

The relationship between the damping constant and the logarithmic decrement is as follows:

$$Q = -\frac{\pi}{\delta} \qquad \qquad \dots \dots (Eq \ 17)$$

Substituting the value of Q from Equation 16, we get: $\frac{f_0}{f_2 - f_1} = \frac{\pi}{\delta}$

ог

Logarithmic decrement
$$=\pi \left(\frac{f_2 - f_1}{f_0}\right)$$
 (Eq 18)

65

Nondestructive Methods for Testing Concrete

APPENDIX 6

EQUATIONS FOR DETERMINATION OF PULSE MODULUS OF ELASTICITY

For Laboratory Beam Specimens:

$$E_{p} = \frac{V^{2} d_{1}}{144g}$$
 (Eq 19)

For Flat Slabs:

$$E_{p} = \frac{V^{2}d_{1}}{144g} (1 - \mu'^{2}) \qquad \dots \dots (Eq \ 20)$$

For Mass Concrete:

$$E_{p} = \frac{V^{2}d_{1}(1 + \mu')}{144g(1 - \mu')}(1 - 2\mu') \qquad \dots \dots (Eq 21)$$

where E_p = pulse modulus of elasticity, psi

V = 1 ongitudinal pulse velocity of transmission, ft/sec

 d_1 = density of concrete, lb/cu/ftg = 32.2 ft/sec²; and μ' = Poisson's ratio.

For $\mu' = 0.24$, the above Equation 21 reduces to:

$$E_{p} = \frac{V^{2}d_{1}}{144g} (0.849) \qquad \dots \dots (Eq 22)$$

The reason that the value of E_p is not affected by Poisson's ratio when the test is carried out on laboratory specimens is that, in a small beam, concrete is free to expand and contract laterally when subjected to longitudinal strain. This reduces the wave velocity. In mass concrete, however, lateral displacements are suppressed and the wave velocity is slightly increased (31).

The experience of most investigators has been that, even for laboratory specimens, Equation 21 for mass concrete gives better results than do those applying to either slab or long slender member (48).